


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM 3 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

190128 Minutes    1 
 

Upper Gunnison River Water Conservancy District 
Board Meeting Minutes 

Monday, January 28, 2019 
 
 

The Board of Directors of the Upper Gunnison River Water Conservancy 
District conducted a regularly scheduled meeting on Monday, January 28, 
2019 at the District’s offices, 210 West Spencer Avenue, Suite B, Gunnison, 
Colorado. 
 
Board members present: Rosemary Carroll, Kathleen Curry, Rebie Hazard, 
Stacy McPhail, Julie Nania, Bill Nesbitt, John Perusek, Michelle Pierce, George 
Sibley, Andy Spann, and Julie Vlier 
 
Cheryl Cwelich 
Ashley Hom, U.S. Forest Service 
Tom Grant, Wet Meadows Program Coordinator 
Jesse Kruthaupt 
Frank Kugel, General Manager 
Jill Steele, Office Manager 
Henry Woods, Lake San Cristobal Water Activity Enterprise 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
Board President Michelle Pierce called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m. 
 
2. EXECUTIVE SESSION TO DISCUSS PERSONNEL MATTERS 
 
John McClow said that the board is authorized to meet in executive session to 
discuss personnel matters pursuant to §24-6-402(4)(f)(I), C.R.S. 
 
Julie Vlier moved, and Stacy McPhail seconded to adjourn into executive 
session to discuss personnel matters pursuant to §24-6-402(4)(f)(I), C.R.S. 
The motion carried. 
 
Bill Nesbitt moved, and Julie Vlier seconded, to adjourn the executive 
session. The motion carried. 
 
The board took no action as a result of the executive session. 
 
3. AGENDA APPROVAL 
 
Board President Michelle Pierce called the regular meeting back to order at 
5:55 p.m. 
 



 

190128 Minutes    2 
 

Michelle Pierce said that additions to the agenda include a memo from Dave 
Currier, which will be discussed under agenda item 8.  The board also received 
a revised list of non-operating expenses for approval.   
 
Bill Nesbitt moved, and George Sibley seconded, to approve the amended 
agenda with the additions mentioned.  The motion carried. 
 
4. CONSENT AGENDA ITEM 
 
Kathleen Curry asked that the Wilson Water Group bill be removed from the  
consent agenda.   
 
Rebie Hazard moved and Bill Nesbitt seconded approval of the remaining 
consent agenda items.  The motion carried. 
 
Consideration of the Wilson Water Group bill:  Kathleen asked Frank to 
comment on the status of the budget for Wilson Water Group’s work, given 
their comment in bold on the invoice.   
 
Frank Kugel said that Erin Wilson has notified him that they are donating part 
of their time in large part because they are behind schedule in providing the 
work product. 
 
Kathleen Curry moved, and Andy Spann seconded, to approve the Wilson 
Water Group bill.  The motion carried. 
 
5. LEGAL AND LEGISLATIVE MATTERS 
 
John McClow said that the legal matter he has to discuss will be the subject of 
the executive session later.   
 
The board received a legislative activity report in their packets.   
 
John said that on the ditch easement bill, HB 19-1082, the committee had 
concerns last week and put together an amendment that Representative Catlin 
was comfortable with, a few changes were made, and the committee voted to 
support it. 
 
John said that negotiations are still ongoing on HB 19-1113.   
 
John said that Julie Nania suggested a resolution supporting HB 19-1113 to 
the committee.  The bill is scheduled to come up to committee on Monday, so 
there is a short timeframe in which to support the legislation.  
 
6. MANAGER’S REPORT  
 



 

190128 Minutes    3 
 

Frank Kugel showed the board the current drought monitor which, in contrast 
to last week’s, shows less area of exceptional drought. 
 
7. DINNER BREAK 
 
8. BOARD/STAFF/COMMITTEE MEMBERS REPORTS 
 
Treasurer’s Report:   Bill Nesbitt said that the District’s income on 
investments exceeded the 2018 budgeted amount by 50%.     
 
Gunnison Basin Roundtable: Kathleen Curry said the GBRT met January 21. 
They reviewed two grant applications and have been approving letters of 
support for other grant programs.  They also discussed the status of demand 
management and drought contingency planning.  They talked about phase 3 of 
the risk study and want to get a thorough update at the March meeting. 
Kathleen suggested it might could be good to share that or to have an update 
on phase 3 at an upcoming board meeting.  The model runs being done as part 
of that are very interesting.   
 
The four, West Slope round tables will meet to talk about phase 3 of the risk 
study and to provide input to a September meeting of all the roundtables in the 
state.  

 
Update on Drought Contingency Planning:  John McClow said that he and 
Frank included a memo in the board packets on basin-specific issues related to 
demand management.  He said that Julie Nania wrote a memo titled Local 
Concerns, Questions and Preferences from Irrigators and Water Resources, 
which included more local details.   
 
John showed historic and projected end-of-month levels for Lake Powell.  
Levels were projected to be mostly below 3,575 feet of elevation through May 
2020. 
 
The memo contains the recommendation that the District compile a complete 
tabulation of pre-compact and post-compact water rights in the District to 
determine what impact curtailment could have, and where.  In addition, the 
District should adopt a firm policy on the definition of “present perfected 
rights” and be prepared to support it.  A question here is whether the District 
should advocate for using rights based on adjudication dates or use dates. 
 
Andy Spann asked if an economic impact component will be involved. Bill 
Nesbitt said he supports Andy’s comment and said he would like to see a 
number chosen for use in the basin that a number of working ranches could 
use in order to calculate what would happen with a certain percentage 
reduction of water use.  
 



 

190128 Minutes    4 
 

Frank said that the Gunnison basin shows a higher number of water rights 
because there are many straddle rights, which makes using appropriate dates 
beneficial for the basin.   
 
Kathleen Curry suggested that the board could form a committee to study this 
and that she would be willing to participate.  
 
Frank said that he has been asked to participate in a West Slope group of 
thirty parties to talk about the demand management and drought contingency 
planning.   
 
John McClow discussed the conservation pilot program that has been ongoing 
for four years.  One of the popular programs that participated in that process 
was a partial year irrigation process.  Many Wyoming ranchers found that 
attractive.  However, at the end of four years, the final analysis report 
concluded that was a very difficult process to evaluate. Due to the way return 
flows work and soils differ, they had difficulty in measuring, quantifying, and 
verifying.   So that may or may not continue to be available.  Deficit irrigation is 
another process being studied, but nobody seems to be able to decide what 
that means.  
 
Cheryl Cwelich said that as part of her capstone project at Western, she is 
working on strategic implementation for the draft continency plan in the 
Gunnison basin based upon pilot programs that have been used.  Her group 
will meet with John tomorrow.  Their goal is to develop basin specific uses to 
present to the state engineer.  
 
Watershed Management Planning: 
 
George said that the board received a memo in their packets.  He said that the 
model that is supposed to tell us how the watersheds work is not working well.  
The diversion information we have is not precise enough.   
 
George said that he wants to have stakeholder meetings to present the needs 
assessment we have come up with and to sound out stakeholders on what 
would be good demonstration projects to address some of the needs being 
identified.  We need to have this done by June and then move on to other 
streams.   
 
George said that the next meeting will be February 4, and our consultant will 
be here for that.  We have a lot of good information put together by Ashley and 
Julie and Jesse. We may have to go with the information we have in order to be 
done by June.  
 
There was support from the board for this approach. 
  



 

190128 Minutes    5 
 

2019 Grant Program: 
 
Frank Kugel said that notices will be published this week and next, with  
February 28 being be the application deadline.  Then the Grant Committee 
looks at the applications and makes recommendations to the board for 
consideration at the March board meeting. 
 
Update on Scientific Endeavors Within the District: 
 
Rosemary Carroll said that the government shutdown has caused the  Airborne 
snow observatory flights to be postponed until next year.   
 
Rosemary said that a new SNOTEL site is being scoped out in the Kebler 
pass/Lake Irwin area.  
 
The effort with the DOE to model the entire East and Taylor drainages is now 
in phase two.  This entails a weather forecast model along with a ground 
model.  While not intended to specifically address agriculture, some large-scale 
information will be produced that could be useful down the road.   
 
Julie Vlier said that in the 2019 budget, $30,000 is included for Taylor River 
basin modeling.  She and Rosemary and Frank have talked with Dave Gochis 
and have developed a scope of work for him and his staff.  The modeling effort 
should be getting underway soon.   
 
Frank said that new SNOTELS are located at Mirror Lake, near Italian Mine, 
and in the Trail Creek area.  One transmits data in real time, and the others 
are currently logging data.  
 
Frank said it was hoped that the Floresta area would be suitable for a SNOTEL 
because it faces north and retains snow.  However, the property is for sale and 
the owners are not interested in any encumbrances on the property.  He asked 
Ashley Hom, of the Forest Service, about the timing for obtaining a permit to 
install a SNOTEL on government property.  Ashley said the NEPA part of it 
takes about one month, and the permit itself takes about two to three months. 
 
9. CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 
No citizens requested to speak. 
 
10. MISCELLANEOUS MATTERS 
 
The board considered the resolution drafted by Julie Nania in support of House 
Bill 19-1113 to amend the Colorado Mined Land Reclamation Act. 
 



 

190128 Minutes    6 
 

Julie Vlier moved to support the resolution in support of House Bill 19-
1113 to amend the Colorado Mined Land Reclamation Act.  George Sibley 
seconded. The motion carried.  
 
John McClow said there are two primary sponsors of this bill in the house and 
there are four secondary sponsors.  He will send the resolution to the six of 
them, and also to a senate sponsor when there is one.   
 
Frank Kugel said he met today with Solarize Gunnison County, a Masters in 
Environmental Management (at Western) project in cooperation with a solar 
energy vendor in Almont.   He indicated the District’s interest and will give 
more information when he has  it. 
 
11. FUTURE MEETINGS 
 
Frank reminded the board of the upcoming Colorado Water Congress 
convention.  He said that there are many workshop opportunities Wednesday 
morning and afternoon.   
 
12. SUMMARY OF MEETING ACTION ITEMS  
 

1. Follow up on demand management memo recommendations, but in 
addition to what was listed in the memo to include a recommendation on 
doing the economic analysis.   

2. Think about what deficit irrigation really means.   
 
13. EXECUTIVE SESSION TO RECEIVE LEGAL ADVICE FROM COUNSEL 
AND INSTRUCTION FOR NEGOTIATORS REGARDING TAYLOR PARK 
RESERVOIR OPERATIONS.  
 
John McClow said that the board is authorized to meet in executive session 
pursuant to §24-6-402(4)(b), C.R.S., conference with attorney and §24-6-402, 
C.R.S., (4)(c)(I) positions regarding negotiations and instructing negotiators. 
 
Bill Nesbitt moved and Andy Spann seconded to meet in executive session 
pursuant to §24-6-402(4)(b), C.R.S., conference with attorney and §24-6-
402 (4)(c)(I), C.R.S., positions regarding negotiations and instructing 
negotiators.  The motion carried. 
 
Rosemary Carroll moved and George Sibley seconded to adjourn the 
executive session. The motion carried. 
 
The board took no action as a result of the executive session.  
 
 
 



 

190128 Minutes    7 
 

14. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Board President Michelle Pierce adjourned the January 28, 2019 meeting at 
8:32 p.m. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
___________________________ 
George Sibley, Secretary 
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
Michelle Pierce, President 
 
 
 
As chair of the executive session, I hereby attest that the executive session held 
on January 28, 2019 was confined to the topic authorized for discussion in an 
executive session, as reflected by the minutes. 
 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Michelle Pierce, President 
 
 
CERTIFICATION           
 
As attorney for the Upper Gunnison River Water Conservancy District, I hereby 
attest that the executive session held on January 28, 2019 was confined to the 
topic authorized for discussion in an executive session, as reflected by the 
minutes. 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
John H. McClow, General Counsel 
 
 





























 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM 4 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

February 14, 2019 

The following are bills of interest to the District that are still alive or recently deceased in the 
General Assembly, including the position taken by the District at the Colorado Water Congress 
State Affairs Committee.  The Bills are listed in numerical order.  Updates from the previous 
report are in red. 

HOUSE BILL 19-1006  CONCERNING MEASURES TO MITIGATE THE EFFECTS OF 
WILDFIRES WITHIN WILDLAND-URBAN INTERFACE AREAS, AND, IN CONNECTION 
THEREWITH, CREATING A STATE GRANT PROGRAM TO PROMOTE FOREST 
MANAGEMENT FUELS REDUCTION PROJECTS IN SUCH AREAS. 

House Sponsors:  McLachlan and Carver    Senate Sponsor:  Fields 

Wildfire Matters Review Committee. The bill creates a state grant program to be administered 
by the Colorado state forest service (forest service) to fund proactive forest management fuels 
reduction projects to reduce the impacts to life, property, and critical infrastructure caused by 
wildfires. 

To be eligible for a grant award, a grant recipient must be any one of a group of individual 
landowners as specified in the bill whose real property that is the subject of a grant application 
is located within a land area that is covered by a community wildfire protection plan. 

The bill specifies requirements pertaining to the evaluation of grant proposals. The forest service 
is to select the proposals that will receive funding, administer the grant program, and develop 
procedures by which applicants are to apply for grants. 

The bill imposes a monetary limit on the amount of a grant to be awarded and also requires a 
grant applicant to demonstrate an available amount of matching funds to be awarded a grant. 

The bill creates the forest management fuels reduction projects grant program cash fund in the 
state treasury. 

The bill requires the forest service to report annually to the general assembly on the number, 
location, and benefits of all projects for which a grant award is made. 

 

Status:  1/04/2019 Introduced in House; Assigned to Rural Affairs and Agriculture Committee 

UGRWCD Legislative Committee position:  Support 

CWC State Affairs Committee position:  Representative McLachlan has advised that 
amendments are forthcoming so the Committee has postponed any action on the bill. 

 

LEGISLATIVE ACTIVITY REPORT 

COLORADO GENERAL ASSEMBLY 

2019 REGULAR SESSION 

http://leg.colorado.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2019A/bills/2019a_1006_01.pdf


2 
 

HOUSE BILL 19-1050  CONCERNING THE PROMOTION OF WATER-EFFICIENT 
LANDSCAPING ON PROPERTY SUBJECT TO MANAGEMENT BY LOCAL SUPERVISORY  
ENTITIES. 

House Sponsor:  Titone   Senate Sponsor:  None 

Section 1 of the bill augments an existing law that establishes the right of unit owners in 
common interest communities to use water-efficient landscaping, subject to reasonable 
aesthetic standards, by specifically extending the same policy to common areas under the 
control of the community's governing board. 

Sections 2 and 3 extend existing water conservation requirements, currently applicable only to 
certain public entities that supply water at retail and their customers, to property management 
districts and other special districts that manage areas of parkland and open space. 

Status:    1/4/2019 Introduced In House - Assigned to Energy & Environment 

1/17/2019  House Committee on Energy & Environment Refer Amended to 
House  Committee of the Whole 
 
1/25/2019 House Second Reading Passed with Amendments. 
1/28/2019 House Third Reading Passed – No Amendments 
2/1/2019    Introduced in Senate – Assigned to Local Government 
 

UGRWCD Legislative Committee position:  Support 

CWC State Affairs Committee position:  The Committee had not seen the amendment as of the 
January 22 meeting, but voted to support the bill in theory because the bill is scheduled for 
second reading in the House on Friday, January 25.  The amendment is attached. 

 

HOUSE BILL 19-1082  CONCERNING THE RIGHTS OF A WATER RIGHTS EASEMENT 
HOLDER. 

House Sponsors:  Catlin and Valdez, D.   Senate Sponsor:  Coram 

The bill clarifies that water rights easement holders may maintain, repair, and improve their 
easement. 

Status:  1/11/2019  Introduced in House; Assigned to Rural Affairs & Agriculture Committee 

1/28/2018  House Committee on Rural Affairs & Agriculture Refer Amended to House 
Committee of the Whole 

The amendment adopted the suggestion that a new section be added rather than 
changing the language of the existing statute.  The amended version is attached. 

1/30/2019  House Second Reading Passed with Amendments 

1/31/2019  House Third Reading Passed – No Amendments. 

2/5/2019  Introduced in Senate – Assigned to Agriculture & Natural Resources. 

 

http://leg.colorado.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2019A/bills/2019a_1050_01.pdf
http://leg.colorado.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2019A/bills/2019a_1082_01.pdf


3 
 

UGRWCD Legislative Committee position:  Support 

CWC State Affairs Committee position:    The committee supports the intent of the bill, which is 
to protect water rights owners from interference with their ability to improve their ditches 
through piping.  The proponents were motivated by a case wherein a ranch crossed by an 
irrigation ditch was divided into 40-acre homesites.  When the water right owner attempted to 
pipe the ditch, the lot owners filed suit to prevent it.  The lot owners did not prevail, but the 
litigation delayed the project long enough to cause the grant for piping to expire, defeating the 
project.  A number of concerns were raised about the bill as drafted and the proponents agreed 
to accept assistance from a subcommittee of SAC in revising the bill to resolve the concerns and 
to request that the House Sponsors delay committee action (now scheduled for January 24) 
until the revisions could be made.   A possible solution discussed was leaving current law as is 
and drafting another bill more specifically addressing the problem. 

 

HOUSE BILL 19-1113  CONCERNING THE PROTECTION OF WATER QUALITY FROM 
ADVERSE IMPACTS CAUSED BY MINERAL MINING. 

House Sponsors:  Roberts and McLachlan (Arndt, Buentello, McCluskie, Titone) 

Senate Sponsor:  Donovan 

Current law does not address reliance on perpetual water treatment as the means to minimize 
impacts to water quality in a reclamation plan for a mining operation. Section 1 of the bill  
requires most reclamation plans to demonstrate, by substantial evidence, a reasonably 
forseeable end date for any water quality treatment necessary to ensure compliance with 
applicable water quality standards. 

Current law allows a mining permittee to submit an audited financial statement as proof that the 
operator has sufficient funds to meet its reclamation liabilities in lieu of a bond or other 
financial assurance. Section 2 eliminates this self-bonding option and also requires that all 
reclamation bonds include financial assurances in an amount sufficient to protect water quality, 
including costs for any necessary treatment and monitoring costs. 

Status:  1/15/2019  Introduced In House;  Assigned to Rural Affairs & Agriculture 

2/4/2019  House Committee on Rural Affairs & Agriculture Refer Amended to House 
Committee of the Whole 

2/6/2019  House Second Reading Passed with Amendments 

2/7/2019  House Third Reading Passed – No Amendments 

2/11/2019  Introduced in Senate – Assigned to Agriculture & Natural Resources 

UGRWCD Legislative Committee position:  Support 

CWC State Affairs Committee position:    This bill was not scheduled for action by the State 
Affairs Committee at the January 22 meeting, so the committee has not taken a position.  A 
number of concerns were raised by committee members about certain provisions.  Proponents 
and sponsors were not present to respond and some issues will require research.  The bill is not 

http://leg.colorado.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2019A/bills/2019a_1113_01.pdf


4 
 

calendared for House Committee action until February 4, so there is time for State Affairs to 
fully consider its position. 

At the February 4 meeting, the State Affairs Committee voted to support the bill.  I testified at 
the House Rural Affairs & Agriculture Committee hearing on behalf of the State Affairs 
Committee and the UGRWCD. The amendment was a minor clarification regarding end dates 
(noted in the description above). 

 



HB1082_L.001
HOUSE COMMITTEE OF REFERENCE AMENDMENT

Committee on Rural Affairs & Agriculture.
HB19-1082 be amended as follows:

1 Amend printed bill, page 1, strike line 2.

2 Page 2, strike lines 1 through 9 and substitute:

3 "SECTION 1. In Colorado Revised Statutes, amend 37-86-103
4 as follows:
5 37-86-103.   Extent of right-of-way. Such right-of-way shall
6 extend only to a ditch, dike, cutting, pipeline, or other structure sufficient
7 for the purpose required. UNLESS EXPRESSLY INCONSISTENT WITH THE

8 TERMS UPON WHICH THE RIGHT-OF-WAY WAS CREATED, A DITCH

9 RIGHT-OF-WAY INCLUDES THE RIGHT TO CONSTRUCT, OPERATE, CLEAN,
10 MAINTAIN, REPAIR, AND REPLACE THE DITCH, TO IMPROVE THE EFFICIENCY

11 OF THE DITCH, INCLUDING BY LINING OR PIPING THE DITCH, AND TO ENTER

12 ONTO THE BURDENED PROPERTY FOR SUCH PURPOSES, WITH ACCESS TO

13 THE DITCH BANKS, AS THE EXIGENCIES THEN EXISTING MAY REQUIRE, FOR

14 ALL REASONABLE AND NECESSARY PURPOSES RELATED TO THE DITCH.".
** *** ** *** **

LLS: Pierce Lively x2059



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM 5 

 

 

 

 

 

 



MEMORANDUM 
 
 

TO: UGRWCD Board Members 
 

FROM: Frank Kugel 
 

DATE: February 25, 2019 
 

SUBJECT: February Manager’s Report 
 
Water Supply Update 

 
The Gunnison Basin received 125 percent of normal precipitation in January.  For 
the four months of the 2019 Water Year beginning October 1, we have received 104 
percent of normal precipitation.  Unregulated inflows into Blue Mesa Reservoir 
were 82 percent of normal for January, while Taylor Park Reservoir inflows were 87 
percent of normal. 
 
Water supply conditions have improved over the past month, particularly in the 
southwest corner of Gunnison County and virtually all of Hinsdale County.  All 
parts of the district are now considered to ‘merely’ be in an Extreme Drought. 

 
 
Western Colorado drought conditions are predicted to continue through April, but 
the severity is expected to improve as shown below (forecast as of January 17). 



 
 

 
 
All of the basins in Colorado have near- or above-normal snowpack for this date. 
 

 



The chart below shows all our basin snotels reporting above normal snowpack for 
this date.  
 

Colorado SNOTEL Snow/Precipitation Update Report 

Based on Mountain Data from NRCS SNOTEL Sites 

**Provisional data, subject to revision** 

Data based on the first reading of the day (typically 00:00) for Friday, February 15, 2019 

 
  Site Name 

Elev 
(ft) 

Snow Water 
Equivalent 

Water Year-to-Date 
Precipitation 

Current 
(in) 

Median 
(in) 

Pct of 
Median 

Current 
(in) 

Average 
(in) 

Pct of 
Average 

GUNNISON RIVER BASIN 

  Butte 10160 10.8  9.8  110  11.7  11.6  101  

  Cochetopa Pass 10020 4.6  2.8R 164  5.4  5.1R 106  

  Columbine Pass 9400 15.7  12.2  129  19.4  16.0  121  

  Idarado 9800 9.7  8.5  114  13.2  12.9  102  

  Mc Clure Pass 9500 12.6  11.2  112  16.7  14.8  113  

  Mesa Lakes 10000 13.0  11.0  118  18.8  14.2  132  

  Overland Res. 9840 9.8  8.4  117  13.7  11.7  117  

  Park Cone 9600 7.3  7.1  103  7.9  8.6  92  

  Park Reservoir 9960 21.9  18.5  118  27.1  19.7  138  

  Porphyry Creek 10760 13.6  10.6  128  11.4  10.4  110  

  Red Mountain Pass 11200 19.5  15.1  129  19.5  18.2  107  

  Sargents Mesa 11530 8.5  N/A  * 9.9  N/A  * 

  Schofield Pass 10700 25.0  22.6  111  23.5  22.3  105  

  Slumgullion 11560 11.3  9.4  120  10.3  9.4  110  

  Upper Taylor 10640 11.7  N/A  * 15.1  N/A  * 

  Wager Gulch 11100 8.8  N/A  * 10.7  N/A  * 

Basin Index (%) 119  114  
 

 
 
Storage in Blue Mesa Reservoir declined slightly over the past month and is 
currently at 7438.01 feet, or some 81 feet below the spillway, which corresponds to 
a reservoir storage of 30 percent of capacity.  The low level for 2018 was 7437.43 
feet recorded on December 17. 
 



Blue Mesa Reservoir is expected to only fill to 450k-500k acre feet in 2019, or 54-60 
% percent of active capacity, according to the most recent projections. 
 
Taylor Park Reservoir is currently at an elevation of 9303.13 feet, or 27 feet below 
the spillway. The release rate from Taylor Park Dam is currently 57 cfs and is 
scheduled to be at that release rate until the end of April, unless hydrologic 
conditions improve dramatically in the Taylor River basin. 
 

 
 
Lake Powell continued to release storage last month while Lake Mead held steady – 
Lake Powell for the first time in over a decade is at a lower percentage of storage capacity 
than Lake Mead.  It has dropped 43.5 feet in the past year.  Lakes Powell and Mead are 
now at 39 and 40 percent of capacity, respectively. 
 

Gunnison River flows in the Black Canyon are currently 473 cfs.  Releases from Crystal 
were increased on February 5 to get flows at Whitewater back to the baseflow target of 750 
cfs. After the USGS returned to work at the end of January, they measured at Whitewater 
and recorded 556 cfs and 589 cfs. After some rework of the data and the rating table it 
was clear we were well below 750 cfs. Flows have been close to 750 cfs since but are on 
the rise now with the storms rolling through. 

 
The National Weather Service is forecasting cooler and wetter conditions than 
normal for both its 6-10 day forecast period beginning February 21 and its 8-14 
day forecast beginning February 23.  The current forecast for March through May 
(released January 17) calls for warmer temperatures and above normal 
precipitation.   



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM 10 

 

 

 

 

 

 



1

Beverly Richards

Subject: FW: Kathleen's DCP questions

From: Kathleen Curry <kathleencurry@montrose.net> 
Sent: Wednesday, February 13, 2019 8:11 AM 
To: michellepierce@centurytel.net 
Subject: Re: Feb board meeting 
 
Hi Michelle, 
 
Here are my questions regarding demand management. Since the staff has requested that I provide them in advance, I 
would appreciate it if we could forward them to the whole board as well.  
 
My goal is to better understand the direction we are heading so I can communicate that accurately at the  next GBRT 
meeting discussion. At this point I  need clarification on the UpperGunnison’s position on this recommendation from 
staff to develop criteria for both a voluntary and mandatory curtailment scenario. 
Questions for staff: 
Please clarify again why you feel it is beneficial for the district to discuss criteria for a Mandatory Plan at this time?  
What benefits could a Mandatory Curtailment Plan have for the Upper Gunnison? 
Why are we working in the context of a SEO rule‐making  as opposed to the CWCB outreach and work group effort that 
has been outlined? 
 
Our position to date has been to focus on the voluntary approach. At the last meeting I stated that I couldn’t see a 
reason to discuss terms for a mandatory approach, and if memory serves, John stated that in the interest of time the 
district should be looking at both on a parallel track and that there would be similarities so it made sense. I want to 
know if I heard him correctly, and I want to talk about how that differs from the position the west slope entities have 
taken so far. Maybe there is something I am not understanding.. 
 
Thanks, Kathleen 
 
Kathleen Curry 
54542 US Highway 50 
Gunnison, CO 81230 
Cell 970‐209‐5537 
Home 970‐641‐0699 
 
 
 



 

 

   
  UPPER GUNNISON RIVER WATER CONSERVANCY DISTRICT 
 
   MEMORANDUM 
    
  FROM:   John H. McClow, General Counsel   

TO:     Board of Directors 
   RE:      Drought Contingency Planning Update 
 DATE:    February 14, 2019 

 
 
Interstate Update 
 
The Arizona legislature passed, and Governor Ducey signed, legislation authorizing the Director 
of the Arizona Department of Water Resources to enter into the Lower Basin DCP agreements 
minutes before the Commissioner of Reclamation’s January 31 deadline.  Nevertheless, 
Commissioner Burman posted the attached notice on the Reclamation website and directed the 
notice to the Federal Register.  What remains to complete the Lower Basin DCP is final review 
and approval of intrastate DCP agreements and exhibits to the DCP Agreement containing 
Intentionally Created Surplus forbearance agreements. In addition, the Imperial Irrigation 
District has conditioned its agreement on securing $200 million in federal funding for Salton Sea 
air quality mitigation.1   
 
The Commissioner hosted an update telephone conference on February 6 during which each state 
itemized the details of their remaining tasks.  All principals are authorized to sign a letter to 
Congress supporting the required federal legislation, pending completion of the final agreements 
noted above.  When the next opportunity for Congressional legislation will arise is uncertain. 
 
Gunnison Basin Issues 
 
In our discussions of demand management, we have speculated generally about what a voluntary 
program would look like and how it would be administered.  In 2013, the Colorado General 
Assembly authorized the Colorado Water Conservation Board to administer a pilot program to 
test the efficacy of fallowing-leasing as an alternative to permanent agricultural dry- up.  The 
CWCB, in collaboration with the State Engineer, developed criteria and guidelines for pilot 
project selection, application, and approval of pilot projects, While fallowing-leasing projects 
differ in several respects from voluntary demand management, the criteria and guidelines offer 
good examples of the requirements and parameters that would likely be applied to demand 
management proposals.  I have attached excerpts from the criteria and guidelines. 

                                                 
1  Water transfers authorized by the 2003 Quantification Settlement Agreement – one of 

the intrastate agreements implementing California’s reduction of consumptive use of Colorado 
River water to its 4.4 million acre-foot annual entitlement – resulted in a reduced volume of 
agricultural return flow from IID and Coachella Valley farms to the Salton Sea, thereby exposing 
the playa and increasing the potential for dust emissions that are hazardous to human health.  The 
total cost of mitigation is estimated in billions of dollars. 



 

2 
 

We have discussed (and we summarized in last month’s memo) the System Conservation Pilot 
Program administered by the Upper Colorado River Commission.  I have also attached the report 
evaluating the first three years of the plan to provide a more complete picture of how the 
experiment was conducted and its results. 



From: Burman, Brenda
To: Tom Buschatzke; Ted Cooke; Christopher Harris; Jeffrey Kightlinger; Ebmartinez@iid.com; James Eklund; John

McClow; john.longworth@state.nm.us; rolf.schmidt@state.nm.us; John Entsminger; Eric Millis; Patrick Tyrrell;
fhannay@ucrcommission.com; Amy Haas

Cc: Brent Rhees; Terrance Fulp; Robert Snow International; Carly Jerla
Subject: DCP Federal Register notice
Date: Friday, February 1, 2019 8:07:50 AM
Attachments: 2019-02-01_FR NOTICE-Drought Governor Input Requested.pdf

 Good morning,
 
Today, we posted the attached notice concerning “Responding to Historic Drought and Ongoing Dry
Conditions in the Colorado River Basin” on the Reclamation website.  We also are sending the notice
to the Office of the Federal Register, to be published at the earliest available issuance date.
 
As you are all well aware, the Colorado River Basin is experiencing its worst drought in recorded
history.  Reclamation is currently working with each of the seven Colorado River basin states to
develop voluntary drought contingency plans (DCPs) which, if implemented, would reduce the risk of
Colorado River reservoirs declining to critically low levels.  Recently, as Reclamation’s Commissioner,
I indicated that if the DCPs were not completed by January 31, 2019, Reclamation would issue a
solicitation for input from the seven Basin States’ Governors regarding recommendations for
potential Departmental action. The attached notice indicates that the Department will accept input
from the Basin states beginning on March 4, 2019, for a 15-day period.
 
As noted in the Notice, the Department will ensure that information received from the Governors’
representatives will be promptly shared with Tribes, interested parties, and the general public at the
end of the comment period.
 
This Departmental action was not our preferred approach.  However, any further delay elevates
existing risks in the basin to unacceptable levels.  It is our hope that the states will promptly
complete work on the DCPs, and if they can, we anticipate terminating our request for further input
and rescinding the request contained in the Federal Register notice.
 
To be prepared in the circumstance that the DCPs cannot be promptly completed in early 2019, the
Department must be prepared to take actions – if needed – to better protect the water users of the
Basin against the increasing risks facing the Basin. 

I am grateful for our close relationships with each basin state and thank you for the hard and
challenging work to achieve meaningful DCPs.  I look forward to working with you to complete the
task.
 
Sincerely,
Brenda Burman
 
 
 

mailto:bburman@usbr.gov
mailto:tbuschatzke@azwater.gov
mailto:tcooke@cap-az.com
mailto:csharris@crb.ca.gov
mailto:jkightlinger@mwdh2o.com
mailto:Ebmartinez@iid.com
mailto:james.eklund@squirepb.com
mailto:jmcclow@ugrwcd.org
mailto:jmcclow@ugrwcd.org
mailto:john.longworth@state.nm.us
mailto:rolf.schmidt@state.nm.us
mailto:john.entsminger@snwa.com
mailto:ericmillis@utah.gov
mailto:patrick.tyrrell@wyo.gov
mailto:fhannay@ucrcommission.com
mailto:ahaas@ucrcommission.com
mailto:brhees@usbr.gov
mailto:tfulp@usbr.gov
mailto:robert.snow@sol.doi.gov
mailto:CJerla@usbr.gov













































A. Pilot Project Selection Criteria 
1. Pursuant to Section 37-60-115(8)(a), a proposed pilot project submitted to the 

Board to be considered for selection must demonstrate the practice of: 
a. fallowing agricultural irrigation land; and 

b. leasing the associated water rights for temporary municipal, 
agricultural, environmental, industrial, or recreational use. 

2. In addition, consistent with the purpose of the pilot program as stated in Section 
37- 60-115(8)(b), proposed pilot projects must have the potential to: 

 

a. in fallowing irrigated agricultural land for leasing water for temporary 
municipal, agricultural, environmental, industrial, or recreational use, 
demonstrate cooperation among different types of water users, including 
cooperation among shareholders, ditch companies, water user 
associations, irrigation districts, water conservancy districts, water 
conservation districts, and municipalities; 

b. evaluate the feasibility of delivering leased water to the temporary 
municipal, agricultural, environmental, industrial, or recreational users; 

c. provide sufficient data from which the Board, in consultation with the 
State Engineer, can evaluate the efficacy of using a streamlined approach, 
such as an accounting and administrative tool, for determining: 

i. historical consumptive use, 
ii. return flows, 

iii. the potential for material injury to other water rights, and 
iv. conditions to prevent material injury; and 

d. demonstrate how to operate, administer, and account for the practice of 
fallowing irrigated agricultural land for leasing water for temporary 
municipal, agricultural, environmental, industrial, or recreational use 
without causing material injury to other vested water rights, decreed 
conditional rights, or contract rights to water. 

3. The Board will not select a pilot project that involves: 
a. the fallowing of the same land for more than three years in a ten-year 

period or the fallowing of more than thirty percent of a single irrigated 
farm2 for more than ten consecutive years;3 

b. the transfer or facilitation of the transfer of water across the continental 
divide by direct diversion, exchange, or otherwise; or 

c. the transfer or facilitation of the transfer of water out of the Rio Grande 
basin by direct diversion, exchange, or otherwise; or 

d. fallowing-leasing from lands on more than one ditch, if the use of more 
than one ditch would have the effect of circumventing the limitation on the 



number of pilot projects that can be authorized. The Board retains 
discretion to select a pilot project if more than one ditch is proposed to be 
used in a unified pilot. 

 

 

4. As described in Section 37-60-115(8)(e)(I), pilot project applications submitted to 
the Board for consideration must include, at a minimum, the following: 

a. a description of the proposed pilot project; 
b. an analysis of the historical use, the historical consumptive use, and the 

historical return flows of the water rights or contract rights to water 
proposed to be used for temporary municipal, agricultural, environmental, 
industrial, or recreational use using a water budget model; 

c. a map showing all parcels that will be fallowed as part of the pilot project; 
d. evidence that the applicant has satisfied the requirements in II.K. below; 
e. a description of the source of water to be used to replace all historical 

return flow obligations, with evidence that the source will provide a firm 
yield of water to replace all return flow obligations, during the pilot 
project and after completion of the pilot project, and; 

f. any additional information requested by the Board. 
All parcels that will be fallowed and dried up must be verified as having been 

historically irrigated (e.g., land historically dry-land farmed may not be considered fallowed 
for the purposes of a pilot project), and no partial year dry-up shall be permitted. An aerial 
photo from each decade of the relevant study period will be acceptable evidence. In the 
absence of aerial photography, the applicant may submit other evidence that will be subject to 
verification by the Board and other parties. 

5. All pilot project application analyses of the historical use, the historical 
consumptive use, and the historical return flows of the water rights or contract 
rights to water proposed to be used for temporary municipal, agricultural, 
environmental, industrial, or recreational use using a water budget model, as 
required above, shall comply with the following: 

a. Proposed pilot projects shall be evaluated with the Lease Fallowing Tool. 
The individual components of analyses submitted shall include the 
following 
tables and other information. All tables should show monthly values, and 
a separate table should be used for each individual farm that is included 
in a pilot project. A list of the tables, along with one sample table, is 
included in Appendix A. Pilot project sponsors and applicants should 
contact the Division of Water Resources for electronic versions of all 
tables in Excel format: 

i. A table identifying all assumptions, presumptive factors, 
and methodologies used in the analyses; 

ii. Tables of historical use and historical consumptive use, based 



on at least 30 years of diversion records, including: 
1. historical total river headgate diversions to the relevant ditch 

and the proportionate share of those diversions attributable to 
the relevant individual farm(s); 

2. ditch losses and off-farm losses (use cited information 
from a previous change case or information from the 
relevant ditch company); 

3. farm headgate delivery (use diversion records); 
4. farm efficiency (use 55 percent); and 
5. potential consumable amount of the farm headgate delivery 

(use farm headgate delivery multiplied by farm efficiency); 
6. stored soil moisture limited to six inches or 0.5 acre-feet per acre. 

iii. Tables of historical use and historical consumptive use, based 
on crop demand, including: 

1. description of crop mix (use ditch-wide crop statistics available 
in Colorado’s Decision Support System basin models or the 
Arkansas River Hydrologic Institute (HI) Model; or if neither of 
those is available, use county-wide statistics); 

2. crop potential evapotranspiration (PET) (use Modified 
Blaney Criddle with TR-21 coefficients); 

3. total precipitation (use weather station closest to the centroid of 
the historically irrigated fields to be fallowed for which the 
record contains adequate data for the chosen study period); 

4. effective precipitation (use factors from United States 
Bureau of Reclamation method); and 

5. crop irrigation requirement (CIR). 
iv.  Farm headgate depletions, which are equal to the Farm 

Headgate Delivery minus the un-lagged return flows and are 
calculated in the Lease Fallowing Tool. Farm headgate 
depletions will be used to determine the following volumetric 
limits: 

1. monthly volumetric limits, calculated as the average of the 
three greatest monthly amounts for each month of farm 
headgate depletions in the study period; and 

2.  annual volumetric limit, calculated as the average of the three 
greatest annual amounts for each year of farm headgate 
depletions in the study period. 

 

v. Historical return flows. 



1. The portion of the monthly farm headgate delivery not used to 
meet the irrigation demand will be the return flow fraction, or 
45 percent of the farm headgate delivery, being the remaining 
fraction of the farm efficiency: 
 

a. twenty percent of the return flow fraction will be 
designated as surface runoff, and 

b. eighty percent of the return flow fraction will be 
designated as deep percolation to the alluvial aquifer. 

2. Unit Response Functions (URFs) shall be used for 
determination of timing of groundwater return flows from 
each farm to the stream or natural drains, using the following 
approaches, assumptions, and factors: 

a. use the Glover-Balmer analytical solution (Glover 
equation) to calculate the lag effect of deep percolation 
return flows; 

b. specific yield = 0.20; 
c. transmissivity according to cited reference or through 

the applicant’s detailed analysis; 
d. the relevant ditch represents the location of the no-flow 

boundary unless geologic and hydrologic conditions 
indicate that the relevant ditch does not reasonably 
represent the no- flow boundary, which boundary should 
then be determined based on actual geologic or 
hydrologic conditions; 

e. the distance to the river is equal to the length of a line 
extending perpendicular from the river or drain to the 
centroid of the irrigated land; return flows accrue to the 
river or drain at this location on the river; and 

f. the number of month time steps (URF period) for the 
URF will be limited to the number of months required for 
at least ninety percent of the impact to occur to the 
stream; the URFs will then be normalized by apportioning 
the remaining return flows across the URF period. 

3. Tables of Historical Delayed Return Flow Remaining to the 
stream after Diversions have Ceased 

a. Applicant must specifically identify how delayed 
return flows are to be met in timing, location, and 
amount, on a monthly basis, with due consideration 
of losses. 

 



4. If return flow obligations are to be met by recharge, URFs do 
not need to be used in developing the Applicant’s proposed 
accounting if: 

a. all return flows for a farm are met by recharge from a 
recharge facility within one quarter mile of the dried up 
land and the recharge water is delivered in the same time 
and amount, with an additional amount to account for 
recharge pond evaporation, as the deep percolation 
portion of the farm delivery for the dried up land; or 

b. if the recharge plan would result in the replacement of the 
actual amount of deep percolation return flow obligations 
by the recharge accruing to the river at the approximate 
location and at the approximate time. 

 
5. A comparison of historic values determined above and 

projected operations. 
project proposal. 

 

6. The Board will give priority to pilot projects that can be implemented using 
existing infrastructure. 

 



 

FINAL REPORT  

COLORADO RIVER SYSTEM CONSERVATION PILOT PROGRAM IN 
THE UPPER COLORADO RIVER BASIN 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared for: 

The Upper Colorado River Commission  

 

Prepared by: 

UCRC Staff 

& 

Wilson Water Group 

165 S. Union Blvd. Suite 520 

Lakewood, CO 80228 

 

 

 

 

 

February 2018  

 
 



Table of Contents 
Executive Summary 

I. Executive Summary .............................................................................................................................. 3 

II. Background ........................................................................................................................................... 5 

III. System Conservation Pilot Program Approach ............................................................................... 6 

A. Evaluation Criteria and Project Selection .......................................................................................... 6 

B. Project Verification ............................................................................................................................ 6 

IV. System Conservation Pilot Program Results ................................................................................... 7 

A. Summary of Selected Projects ........................................................................................................... 7 

B. Summary of the Contracted Conserved Water and Associated Cost .............................................. 12 

C. Summary of the SCPP Conserved Consumptive Use Analyses ........................................................ 16 

V. System Conservation Pilot Program Project Monitoring .................................................................. 16 

VI. Lessons Learned ............................................................................................................................. 17 

A. Program Administration and Project Implementation ................................................................... 17 

B. Operational Lessons ........................................................................................................................ 19 

C. Project Costs, Benefits, and Risks .................................................................................................... 26 

D. Legal Constraints ............................................................................................................................. 27 

E. Community Outreach and Education .............................................................................................. 28 

Appendix A: System Conservation Pilot Program Consumptive Use Analysis (2015) ................................ 30 

Appendix B: System Conservation Pilot Program Consumptive Use Analysis (2016) ................................ 33 

 

  

Page 2 
 



I. Executive Summary 
The following report is intended to summarize the outcomes and lessons learned from the three-year 
Colorado River System Conservation Pilot Program (SCPP) as implemented in the Upper Colorado River 
Basin (Upper Basin) beginning in 2015.1  The Upper Basin SCPP is part of a larger, basin-wide program 
that was funded by four Colorado River municipal water users--the Central Arizona Water Conservation 
District, the Southern Nevada Water Authority, the Metropolitan Water District of Southern California 
(MWD), and Denver Water-- partnering with the Bureau of Reclamation (collectively, the Funding 
Agencies).  In 2017, the Walton Family Foundation also contributed to the Upper Basin SCPP through 
Denver Water.  

The overall goals of the SCPP were to, among other things, help explore, learn from and determine 
whether a voluntary, temporary and compensated reduction in consumptive use in the Upper Basin is a 
feasible method to partially mitigate the decline of or to raise water levels in Lake Powell and thereby 
serve as a useful tool for the drought contingency planning processes in the Upper Basin.  Thus, the 
primary objective of the pilot program was not to test whether conserved water actually reaches Lake 
Powell, but rather to assess the feasibility of system conservation as a future means of increasing 
storage at the reservoir.  From 2015-2017, the Upper Basin SCPP funded 45 projects, for a consumptive 
use reduction of approximately 22,116 acre-feet at a total cost of $4,555,747.  There was significant 
interest and program participation in the Upper Basin.  With assistance from the four Upper Colorado 
River Division States (Colorado, Utah, Wyoming, and New Mexico) as well as facilitation by key non-
governmental organizations (NGOs), the Upper Basin SCPP received 93 applications from 2015 through 
2017. Information about the SCPP was collected that will inform the future of the program, or a similar 
demand management effort, including recommendations for potential improvements.   

In addition to demonstrating significant Upper Basin water user interest, the SCPP was also successful in 
demonstrating and accomplishing the administrative requirements for such a program. These included 
solicitation of proposals from water users; review, ranking and selection of projects; contracting; field 
verification of consumptive use savings; payment management and processing; and, management and 
coordination of activities among multiple funding agencies.    

The SCPP successfully demonstrated water user interest, administrative capabilities and requirements, 
as well as greatly advanced learning – all of which have contributed to a better understanding of 
whether and how voluntary reductions in consumptive use in the Upper Basin may help protect critical 
reservoir levels during drought  Among the broader-based observations involved in implementing this 
program, the following have emerged:  

1. The Upper Colorado River Commission (UCRC) gained an understanding of the requirements to 
administer, contract, and pay for conservation activities; 

2. It is valuable to have key stakeholders and NGOs participate in program outreach;   

1 In August 2017, the Upper Colorado River Commission agreed to extend the SCPP through 2018 to further study 
the feasibility of the Program in the Upper Basin.  A summary of the fourth year of SCPP in the Upper Basin will be 
included as an appendix to this Report upon conclusion of the 2018 projects. 

Page 3 
 

                                                           



3. There can be multiple benefits of conservation, including fuller target reservoirs, in-channel 
benefits, and benefits to agricultural production through soil “resting”; 

4. Sufficient resources for program administration must be provided; 
5. Additional groups may be interested in providing potential funding – including public water 

providers, NGOs, and the federal government; 
6. Improved methods of estimating conservation, such as remote sensing, may be useful; 
7. The desire to generate publicity about program participation varies among selected applicants; 
8. Involvement by trusted local and state representatives is critical in attracting agricultural water 

user participation;  
9. The availability of historical crop and water use data and information on a proposed site is 

beneficial to understanding potential conservation benefits;  
10. The SCPP served as a valuable tool for educating local water managers, administrators, and 

water users about the Colorado River System; and 
11. Conservation may be a tool to improve reservoir conditions provided legal, technical and policy 

issues can be resolved. 

The underlying goal of the SCPP was to learn about the logistics and challenges associated with 
implementing this type of program.  The operation of the pilot program showed: 1) there is participation 
interest within the Upper Basin; 2) it is possible to contract and verify conservation measures; and, 3) 
competitive pricing can support conservation efforts.  Because of the learning successes of the pilot 
program between 2015 and 2017, the SCPP has been extended into 2018.  See footnote 1.  Additionally, 
the information garnered in the first three years of the pilot program has helped clarify remaining 
questions that need to be answered to support a long-term management program.  The following 
questions should be addressed in conjunction with the lessons learned detailed in this Report:  

1. What is the role and objective of a more permanent System Conservation Program? For 
example, is it an intermittent tool used only when Lake Powell hits critical elevations for large- 
scale demand management; or, is it vehicle to implement more local water banking options to 
benefit Upper Basin water users?  

2. What can be done to ensure that conserved water gets to Lake Powell?  
3. What can be done to improve the ability to measure conserved water volumes?  
4.  Can projects generate the amount of conserved water that modeling conducted by the Upper 

Basin suggests may be required to have measurable impacts; and,  
5. What are the direct and indirect benefits and impacts to local areas from a significant level of 

conservation? 
6. What would be the source of financial support for measurable demand management volumes, 

recognizing current unit costs? For example, is it feasible to secure roughly $40 million to 
conserve approximately 200,000 acre-feet based on the 2017 SCPP unit costs?   

7. How do we manage risk and determine an appropriate level of conservation given hydrologic 
variability? For example, how do we minimize large investments in conservation rendered 
unnecessary by a wet year—are there opportunities for using surplus conserved water in the 
Upper Basin (e.g., water banking)?  

Page 4 
 



8. How do we preserve the widespread interest, support, and momentum that the SCPP has 
generated; will a short-term break in implementation have long-term impacts in interest?  

9. What are the possible options and the best vehicle to administer a system conservation 
program?  For example, some of the options being considered by a UCRC/Upper Basin 
workgroup include administration by Reclamation or other government agencies, continued 
administration by the UCRC, or administration by an NGO.  

10. How does a future system conservation program respond to the goals, objectives, timing, 
mandates, and priorities of the Upper Basin states and the UCRC? 

II. Background 
The Colorado River, often considered the lifeline of the American Southwest, supplies water to between 
35 and 40 million people in the seven U.S. Basin States of Arizona, California, Nevada, Colorado, 
Wyoming, Utah, and New Mexico, and approximately 4.5 million acres of land in the Basin and adjacent 
areas.2  Prolonged drought conditions over the course of more than 17 years, coupled with increasing 
demands, have stressed this valuable water system. In 2016, water levels in Lake Mead reached a 
historic low, dropping below 1,072 feet.3 Moreover, two of the last 17 years of inflows into Lake Powell 
were less than five million acre-feet4 with above-average inflows into Lake Powell occurring only four 
years since 2000.5 Should such patterns continue over time, both Lake Powell and Lake Mead could 
reach critical elevations that would threaten hydroelectric power generation and could eventually lead 
to a conflict over the  1922 Colorado River Compact.  

To help explore drought contingency options that could help increase water elevation levels in Lake 
Mead and Lake Powell, four Colorado River municipal water users—the Central Arizona Water 
Conservation District, the Southern Nevada Water Authority, The Metropolitan Water District of 
Southern California, and Denver Water, partnering with the Bureau of Reclamation (collectively, the 
Funding Agencies)—funded the SCPP in both the Upper and Lower Colorado River basins.  The 
overarching goal was to assess whether surface water elevations in Lake Mead and Lake Powell could be 
increased through participation in the program. The SCPP provided over $11 million in funding to 
develop, test, and collect data for a temporary, voluntary and compensated water-savings program to 
provide a learning opportunity and assess long-term feasibility.  The Funding Agencies originally 
committed at least $2.75 million to implement a two-year SCPP for projects located in the Upper Basin. 
The UCRC entered into a Facilitation Agreement with the Funding Agencies in May of 2015 to implement 
the SCPP in the Upper Basin beginning that same year.  

2 “Colorado River Basin Stakeholders Moving Forward to Address Challenges Identified in the Colorado River Basin 
Water Supply and Demand Study Phase 1 Report”. U.S. Bureau of Reclamation. Available at: 
https://www.usbr.gov/lc/region/programs/crbstudy/MovingForward/Phase1Report.html.  
3“Lake Mead Historical Reservoir Levels.” U.S. Bureau of Reclamation. Available at:  
https://www.usbr.gov/lc/region/g4000/hourly/mead-elv.html 
4 “Lake Powell Unregulated Inflow.” U.S. Bureau of Reclamation. Available at:  
https://www.usbr.gov/uc/water/crsp/studies/images/PowellForecast.png.  
5 The Average inflow into Lake Powell was 10.83 MAF from 1981-2010. “Lake Powell Unregulated Inflow.” U.S. 
Bureau of Reclamation. Available at: https://www.usbr.gov/uc/water/crsp/studies/images/PowellForecast.png.  

Page 5 
 

                                                           

https://www.usbr.gov/lc/region/programs/crbstudy/MovingForward/Phase1Report.html


Although the SCPP was originally intended to be a two-year project, greater interest in participation and 
availability of additional funds motivated the UCRC and Funding Agencies to extend the project through 
2017, and again into 2018. Preliminary results of the SCPP and lessons learned from the implementation 
of the 2015, 2016, and 2017 projects in the Upper Basin are provided below.   

III. System Conservation Pilot Program Approach 
A. Evaluation Criteria and Project Selection  
Evaluation criteria was  developed to select projects that would provide learning opportunities to 
understand how a larger-scale project could be implemented and would most benefit the Colorado 
River by intentionally leaving water in the system.  The UCRC, the four Upper Division States and the 
Funding Agencies participated in the evaluation process.  Evaluation criteria included: 

• ability to demonstrate the efficacy of a new conservation method, 
• schedule for implementing the conservation project, 
• complexity or level of administration involved in project implementation and verification, 
• cost per acre-foot of conserved water, 
• identified environmental benefits, 
• demonstrated commitment to project success, 
• diversity in geographic locations, 
• diversity in the types of water conservation methods, 
• funding availability in conjunction with consideration of other proposed projects, 
• demonstrable water savings, and 
• potential for any conserved water to benefit storage in the Colorado River system. 

B. Project Verification  
The SCPP Team worked with the selected project participants or their representatives to establish 
project-specific verification plans that were included in the final contracts between the participants and 
the UCRC. The primary focus of each plan outlined procedures to verify and document that the applicant 
performed the conservation measures and complied with the schedule indicated in their contract.  

Each verification plan was tailored to take advantage of existing measuring devices, primarily flumes or 
other diversion measurement devices at river or farm headgates. The primary component for verifying 
full or partial fallowing was field site visits to visually assess that water was not being applied.  Each 
verification plan included scheduled site visits during project implementation and a standard approach 
was taken to photograph and document the site visits. The final component of each verification plan 
was to assess the estimated consumptive use savings compared to the proposed savings. While the 
consumptive use savings was important, the primary focus of the SCPP was to explore, learn from and 
determine whether a voluntary, compensated reduction in consumptive use is a feasible method to 
partially mitigate the decline of Lake Powell reservoir elevations.  

Page 6 
 



IV. System Conservation Pilot Program Results 
A. Summary of Selected Projects  
The SCPP demonstrated that there is significant interest from Upper Basin water users in participation in 
this type of program. In the three years of the SCPP, there were more applications received than 
projects selected due to funding limitations. Figure 1 summarizes the total number of applications 
received, the total projects selected each year, and the total cost.  Notably, in 2017, 5 fewer projects 
were selected relative to 2016.  However, the overall size of the 2017 projects increased while the unit 
cost decreased relative to the previous year.  

 

 

Figure 1 – Number of Applications Received, Projects Selected, and Total Project Cost  
 

Tables 1 and 2 provide an overview of the number of applications received relative to the 
number of projects implemented in each state.   

       Table 1 – Total Number of Applications Received in Each Year by State 

Year Colorado New Mexico Utah Wyoming Total 
2015 6 0 1 8 15 
2016 17 3 2 10 32 
2017 12 4 8 22 46 
Total 35 7 11 40 93 

Page 7 
 



       Table 2 – Total Number of Projects Implemented in Each Year by State  

Year Colorado New Mexico Utah Wyoming Total 
2015 5 0 0 5 10 
2016 8 2 1 9 20 
2017 2 3 6 4 15 
Total 15 5 7 18 45 

 

As the SCPP progressed, the number of applications increased. Colorado and Wyoming saw the most 
applications throughout the duration of the SCPP. The success in these two states, coupled with the 
increased number of applications in Utah and New Mexico, is attributed to focused outreach (see 
“Lessons Learned: Community Outreach and Education”).  

In 2016, 25 projects were selected; however, only 20 were contracted and implemented. See Table 2. 
The reasons the five applicants chose not to participate varied and included complexities involving 
multiple owners and pending property sales.    

Table 3 highlights the different project categories implemented in each year. For the fallowing projects, 
no irrigation water was applied to the enrolled fields for the duration of the irrigation season, and for 
the split season deficit irrigation projects, no irrigation water was applied during a specified period of 
the irrigation season (e.g., June 1 through September 30).  Some of the projects were a combination in 
which some fields were fallowed and others were split season deficit irrigated. The municipal projects 
include both outdoor and indoor municipal water use.  

 Table 3 – Types of Projects Implemented in Each Year 

Project Type 2015 2016 2017 Total 
Fallow 1 1 6 8 
Split Season Deficit Irrigation 6 14 5 25 
Alternative Cropping & Deficit Irrigation 1 4 1 6 
Combination of Fallow & Split Season Deficit 
Irrigation 

1 0 3 4 

Municipal 1 1 0 2 
 

 

Figures 2, 3 and 4, below represent the locations of the projects selected and implemented by 
project type in 2015, 2016 and 2017, respectively.  Note that six of the projects were multi-year 
projects (for example, contracted for both 2016 and 2017) and seven of the projects applied 
and were selected in multiple years of the SCPP, often enrolling different fields within the same 
farm or ranch.  Focused outreach from representatives of Trout Unlimited and The Nature 
Conservancy helped enroll several agricultural applicants that may not have otherwise applied 
(see “Lessons Learned:  Community Outreach and Education”). 

Page 8 
 



 
 

Figure 2 – Location of the Projects Selected & Implemented in 2015 

Page 9 
 



 
 

Figure 3 – Location of the Projects Selected & Implemented in 2016 

Page 10 
 



 

Figure 4 – Location of the Projects Selected & Implemented in 2017 

Page 11 
 



B. Summary of the Contracted Conserved Water and Associated Cost  
The participants in the SCPP were compensated based on an estimated average historical conserved 
consumptive use value associated with each project. These estimates were provided in the application 
and were reviewed, verified, and adjusted if necessary by Wilson Water Group (WWG) during the 
project selection process. The estimates were generally based on historical averages that accounted for 
water supply limitations; however, some of the estimates were negotiated based on pending water right 
court cases or documented reports.  

The method for calculating the potential conserved consumptive use varied by state depending on data 
availability. In general, the applicants in Colorado, New Mexico, and Utah calculated historical potential 
consumptive use based on Modified Blaney-Criddle with an elevation adjustment, while the applicants 
in Wyoming used remote sensed data (Landsat satellite imagery) with the energy balance model METRIC 
(Mapping EvapoTranspiration with High Resolution and Internalized Calibration).  Wyoming relied 
exclusively on 2011 data for this analysis as it was the most comprehensive METRIC dataset available for 
SCPP project use. Therefore, Wyoming estimates did not represent average historical consumptive use, 
but rather a snapshot of a relatively wet water supply year. 

The consumptive use estimates were adjusted, if necessary, to account for historical water supply 
limitations. This is important because the ability for Upper Basin water users to divert water is 
dependent upon the physical supply associated with the hydrologic year type. Because of this, Upper 
Basin water users often experience late season water supply shortages. To account for water supply 
limitations, different methods were used to adjust the potential consumptive use estimates based on 
the available data in each state:  

• Colorado: Average water supply limitations were applied based on historical diversions and 
associated shortages calculated using the state’s consumptive use model (StateCU). In Colorado, 
diversions are measured, recorded, and publicly available in the state’s database (HydroBase); 
therefore, water supply limitations can be readily quantified.  

• New Mexico: Average water supply limitations were applied based on discussions with the State 
Engineer’s Office. Not all diversions are measured or recorded; therefore, State Engineer’s 
Office staff provided supply limitation estimates.  

• Utah: Average water supply limitations were applied based on discussions with the State 
Engineer’s Office. Similar to New Mexico, not all diversions are measured or recorded; 
therefore, State Engineer’s Office staff provided supply limitation estimates.  

• Wyoming: Average water supply limitations were applied based on regulation dates and 
discussions with the State Engineer’s Office, as the METRIC estimates are based upon 2011 data 
which was a relatively wet supply year. In Wyoming, diversions are generally not recorded 
except on tributaries that require frequent regulation. 

Tables 5 through 7 show the contracted consumptive use estimates by tributary and associated 
compensation for each program year.  Based on the contracted historical conserved consumptive use 
estimates, the Funding Agencies, including NGOs, provided $4,555,747 to conserve 22,116 acre-feet of 
water during 2015, 2016, and 2017. 

Page 12 
 



Table 4 – Total Conserved Consumptive Use (CCU) and Associated Compensation for the 2015 Projects6 

Tributary Name State 
Total 

Acreage 
Crop Project Type 

Total 
Estimated CCU 

(acre-feet) 

Cost per  
acre-foot 

Total Cost 

Fontenelle Creek WY 221 Grass pasture Split Season Deficit Irrigation 248 $       200 $       49,600 
Cottonwood Creek WY 1,736 Grass pasture Split Season Deficit Irrigation 1,202 $       200 $     240,492 
Middle Piney Creek WY 40 Grass pasture Split Season Deficit Irrigation 32 $       200 $         6,313 
Middle Piney Creek WY 101 Grass pasture Split Season Deficit Irrigation 88 $       200 $       17,563 
Pine Creek WY 81 Grass pasture Split Season Deficit Irrigation 74 $       200 $       14,832 

Uncompahgre River CO 23 
Corn Fallow 46 (2015) $       300  

$       21,000 
Winter wheat 

Alternative Cropping & Deficit 
Irrigation 

29 (2016) $       250 

Yampa River CO 193 Grass pasture Split Season Deficit Irrigation 188 $       200 $       37,600 

Colorado River – Grand 
Valley 

CO 200 Corn & alfalfa Fallow 
334 (2015) 

$       330 $     330,660 334 (2016) 
334 (2017) 

Various tributaries on 
Colorado’s West Slope 

CO 51 
Grass pasture & 
alfalfa 

Combination of Fallow & Split 
Season Deficit Irrigation 

56 (2015) 
$       300 $       36,501 

62 (2016) 
South Fork Eagle River* CO - - Municipal 200 $       670 $     134,132 
Total - 2,646 - - 3,227 - $    $888,693 
*Project was selected in 2015 and implemented in 2016. This was a pilot program and, due to considerations specific to this project, it was funded at a higher rate than others. 
This is not a rate that was or typically will be considered for other SCPP projects. 

 
 

6 Table also includes multi-year projects that were first implemented in 2015 
Page 13 

 

                                                           



Table 5 – Total Conserved Consumptive Use (CCU) and Associated Compensation for the 2016 Projects  

Tributary Name State 
Total 

Acreage 
Crop Project Type 

Total 
Estimated CCU 

(acre-feet) 

Cost per 
acre-foot 

Total Cost 

San Juan River NM - - Municipal (outdoor) 39A) $        190 $         7,391 
Animas & San Juan Rivers NM 58 Grass Pasture Fallow 152 $        200 $       30,366 

Ferron Creek UT 240 
Alfalfa &  
Grass Pasture 

Fallow 517 (2016) 
$        200 $     255,876 Alternative Cropping & Deficit 

Irrigation 
381 (2017) 
381 (2018) 

Fontenelle Creek  WY 381 Grass Pasture Split Season Deficit Irrigation 466 $        200 $       93,200 
Cottonwood Creek WY 726 Grass Pasture Split Season Deficit Irrigation 482 $        200 $       96,400 
Middle Piney Creek WY 1,240 Grass Pasture Split Season Deficit Irrigation 1,135 $        200 $     227,000 
Middle Piney Creek WY 184 Grass Pasture Split Season Deficit Irrigation 178 $        200 $       35,600 
South Fork Horse Creek WY 1,103 Grass Pasture Split Season Deficit Irrigation 1,226 $        200 $     245,200 
South Cottonwood Creek WY 1,631 Grass Pasture Split Season Deficit Irrigation 1,143 $        200 $     228,600 
Pine Creek WY 82 Grass Pasture Split Season Deficit Irrigation 70 $        200 $       14,000 
Ham’s Fork River WY 292 Grass Pasture Split Season Deficit Irrigation 395 $        200 $       79,000 
Black’s Fork River WY 40 Grass Pasture Split Season Deficit Irrigation 105 $        200 $       21,000 
Uncompahgre River CO 44 Alfalfa, Corn, Beans, Clover Alt. Cropping & Deficit Irrigation 96B) $        200 $       19,250 

Uncompahgre River CO 10 Alfalfa, Corn & Clover 
Alternative Cropping & Deficit 
Irrigation 

20 (2016) 
$        200 $       12,000 20 (2017) 

20 (2018) 

Uncompahgre River CO 12 Alfalfa & Triticale 
Alternative Cropping & Deficit 
Irrigation 

24 (2016) 
$        200 $       14,400 24 (2017) 

24 (2018) 
Surface Creek CO 67 Alfalfa & Grass Pasture Split Season Deficit Irrigation 125 $        250 $       31,250 
East River CO 106 Grass Pasture Split Season Deficit Irrigation 98 $        200 $       19,674 
Tomichi Creek CO 165 Grass Pasture Split Season Deficit Irrigation 100 $        200 $       20,000 
Little Cimarron River CO 195 Grass Pasture Split Season Deficit Irrigation 170 $        161 $       27,375 
Milk Creek CO 94 Alfalfa & Grass Pasture Split Season Deficit Irrigation 84 $        200 $       16,760 
Total - 6,670 - - 7,475 - $ 1,494,342 

A) The estimated CU is for the lifetime of the project (approximately 20 years) 
B) Compensated on actual practice and associated CU 

Page 14 
 



Table 6 – Total Conserved Consumptive Use (CCU) and Associated Compensation for the 2017 Projects 

Tributary Name State 
Total 

Acreage 
Crop Project Type 

Total 
Estimated CCU 

(acre-feet) 

Cost per 
acre-foot 

Total Cost 

San Juan & Animas River NM 125 Alfalfa & Corn 
Combination of Fallow & Split 
Season Deficit Irrigation 

298 $        190 $            56,679 

San Juan & Animas River NM 40 Grass Pasture Fallow 95 $        190 $            18,103 

San Juan River NM 1,286 
Alfalfa, Corn & Pinto 
Bean 

 Fallow 2,901 $        219 $          635,242  

Price River UT 28 Alfalfa & Oat 
Alternative Cropping & Deficit 
Irrigation 

58 $        190  $           10,992  

Price River UT 371 Alfalfa & Small Grain Fallow 923 $        190  $         175,332  

Price River UT 152 Alfalfa & Grass Pasture 
Combination of Fallow & Split 
Season Deficit Irrigation 

311 $        190  $           59,157  

Price River UT 186 Grass Pasture Fallow 372 $        190  $           70,674  
Price River UT 159 Alfalfa Split Season Deficit Irrigation 228 $        190  $           43,341  
Price River UT 27 Alfalfa & Grass Pasture Fallow 67 $        190  $           12,675  
Fontenelle Creek WY 275 Grass Pasture Split Season Deficit Irrigation 407 $        190  $           77,330  
Fontenelle Creek WY 492 Grass Pasture Split Season Deficit Irrigation 540 $        190  $         102,600  
Fontenelle Creek WY 717 Grass Pasture Split Season Deficit Irrigation 714 $        190  $         135,660  

Fontenelle Creek WY 878 Grass Pasture Split Season Deficit Irrigation 1,083 $        190  $         205,770  

Colorado River CO 1,252 Alfalfa & Corn 
Combination of Fallow & Split 
Season Deficit Irrigation 

3,178 $        165  $      525,000*  

Colorado River & Fraser 
River 

CO 348 Grass pasture Fallow 233 $        190  $           44,300 

Total - 6,336 - - 11,408 - $    2,172,855  
*Additional funding for this project came from non-SCPP sources. 

Page 15 
 



C. Summary of the SCPP Conserved Consumptive Use Analyses  
As part of the SCPP, individual project performance was evaluated through project-specific verification 
plans. Each plan included an analysis of potential consumptive use during the conservation activity using 
climate data from a nearby climate station, reduced as necessary by water supply limitations. The 
purpose of the consumptive use analysis was to quantify the amount of water each project conserved by 
participating in the SCPP. These analyses were for study purposes only, and did not impact participant 
compensation. Based on these analyses, an estimated 2,645 acre-feet of water was conserved in 2015 
and an estimated 8,068 acre-feet of water was conserved in 2016. The individual results from these 
analyses and a discussion of the methodology are presented in Appendices A and  B. Differences 
between the applicants’ estimated conserved consumptive use savings and the final conserved 
consumptive use calculation are due to climate and water availability for the SCPP year. The same 
general procedure will be used to provide results for the 2017 projects when they are completed. 

V. System Conservation Pilot Program Project Monitoring 
As part of the project selection criteria, the SCPP included a qualitative monitoring component separate 
from verification. The terms “monitoring” and “verification” hold distinct meanings within the context of 
the SCPP, as defined below:  

Verification refers to project compliance – verifying the applicants are doing what they said they 
would do per their signed contracts. 

Monitoring is an assessment of the likelihood that the conserved water remained in the system 
as “system water.”  The basis for assessing this was to evaluate whether the conserved water 
was likely to flow to one of the larger main stem tributaries. Each of the projects was 
qualitatively evaluated based on the ease of monitoring and the ability to track the water 
savings to Lake Powell or another Colorado River Storage Project (CRSP) reservoir. However, 
because there is no legal mechanism to ensure that the conserved water is not consumed by 
downstream users, the basis for assessing the ease of monitoring assumed that if the conserved 
water was likely to flow to the main stem or one of the larger main stem tributaries, it was more 
likely to flow to Lake Powell. Main stem tributaries include the Yampa River, White River, Green 
River, Gunnison River, and the San Juan River. The number of intervening water users between 
the project and Lake Powell was also considered.  

Projects were assessed, in part, based on ease of monitoring.  For example, projects for which it was 
determined that conserved water was likely to flow to Lake Powell or another CRSP reservoir were 
ranked “high.”  Alternatively, projects ranked “low” had less probability that conserved water would 
flow to Lake Powell.  Those projects for which water could flow to Powell, but not without some 
impediment (e.g. the need to shepherd water past downstream diversions) were ranked “medium.” 

Of the implemented projects in 2015 and 2016, and projects selected for 2017, approximately 71 
percent of the projects ranked “medium”  to” high” in terms of ease of monitoring.   The inability to 
legally protect the conserved water from downstream diversion significantly impacts the likelihood the 

Page 16 
 



water will enhance storage levels in Lake Powell and the effectiveness of these types of programs, as 
discussed below in the Lessons Learned section. 

Regardless of the inability to legally protect the conserved water, quantitatively tracking this water was 
not possible because it was very small relative to flows on the main stem rivers and storage levels in 
Lake Powell. For example, in 2015, an estimated 2,645 acre-feet of water was conserved in the Upper 
Basin. This is equivalent to 0.01 percent of the active storage in Lake Powell and 0.03 percent of the 
annual 2015 inflow to Lake Powell. 

VI. Lessons Learned 
Program implementation has generated both broad-based policy information, as well as specific 
feedback on the administration and operation of the SCPP.  Five main themes emerged regarding the 
administrative and operational lessons learned, and are grouped below accordingly. These lessons were 
documented throughout the process.   

A. Program Administration and Project Implementation 
The following lessons fall under the category of program administration and project implementation. 
This aspect of the SCPP was the most time-intensive and required significant resources from the SCPP 
Team. 

a. Integrate more detail-oriented questions in the application. The SCPP application was a simple, 
fill-in-the-boxes, three-page application that asked for basic project-related information 
including proposed project description, project location, type of water use, water right, and 
description of current water use. While this information is crucial, the level of detail requested 
in the application proved to be too basic, resulting in extensive program administration 
outreach to understand simple project operations. For example, if a project diverts water under 
a large ditch company, knowing the water right information is not enough. The application 
needs to require information relating to the number of shares owned by the applicant and the 
quantity of water associated with each share. Additional helpful information should include the 
applicant’s total irrigated acreage (not just the acreage proposed for the SCPP), how often the 
applicant has historically irrigated the proposed fields (irrigation schedule), and the approximate 
cutting dates for each proposed field. This would significantly streamline the process and save 
administrative costs by reducing the amount of additional outreach for coordination. 

b. Advertise and provide technical support to potential applicants. The SCPP application required 
technical information such as a conserved consumptive use estimate, detailed water right 
information, and a location map. In most cases, it was difficult for applicants to provide this 
information without external support. While support was available in each of the Upper Basin 
states, it was not readily known and advertised in all areas. For example, it was widely known 
that the State Engineer’s Office in Wyoming provided technical support to potential applicants, 
which resulted in both an increased interest in the program and number of submitted 
applications. For the other states, assistance was offered to potential applicants during the 
outreach process; however it was not noted on the application. Moving forward, it will be 

Page 17 
 



helpful to indicate other resources, such as NGOs and state and federal entities that may be 
available to provide technical support on the applications. This would help assure that the 
application process is not a deterrent or barrier to participation.  

c. Refine selection criteria. The SCPP Team developed diverse evaluation criteria to select projects 
that would provide learning opportunities while potentially providing the most benefit to the 
Colorado River system.  However, the selection process, particularly in the first two years of the 
pilot program, took significantly longer than anticipated.  Moving forward, the selection process 
may benefit from refinement to the evaluation criteria.   

d. Streamline project contracting and funding. It is critical to streamline and simplify project 
contracting and funding as much as possible. At the beginning of this program, the UCRC had 
concerns about potential exposure in its contracts with the Funders and the project participants 
alike.  Moreover, the multi-state nature of the SCPP also gave rise to legal questions with 
respect to choice of law provisions and possible constraints in state or local laws. To address 
these concerns, the contracts for each pilot project were more than twenty pages in length and 
the contracting process took months to complete. Each contract was tailored to the needs of 
each participant, thus necessitating an iterative review process between the applicant, the 
funders, and legal counsel.   

 Potential improvements in the contracting process may include the development of a shorter 
standardized contract that requires less intensive review, coupled with a more detailed 
verification plan tailored to the specific needs and nuances of each project.  The standard 
contract could be included with the application so the participants understand that if they 
cannot agree to the standard contract, they should not apply.  

In addition to streamlining the contracting process, the funding process could also be improved. 
Currently, twice a year, the UCRC must track when a payment is needed and then invoice up to 
five funding agencies for their share of the payment. Once the money is received from each 
agency, the UCRC writes a check to the participant. This proved to be a time-intensive process, 
not the least because the UCRC must maintain separate accounting for the SCPP. For example, 
in 2016, 230 individual invoices had to be sent from the UCRC to pay 23 project participants 
twice—once within 60 days of the executed contract and again within 60 days of project 
completion. While this sequence was developed to accommodate both the needs of the funding 
agencies and the applicants, the funding process itself resulted in delays.  

Moving forward, the funding process should be simplified to work for all the Funding agencies 
and applicants. Ideally, funders could provide project money up-front and rely on audit reports 
to track funds. 

e. Understand the impacts associated with sources of funding. The SCPP was funded by the 
Bureau of Reclamation, the Central Arizona Water Conservation District, the Southern Nevada 
Water Authority, The Metropolitan Water District of Southern California, and Denver Water. 
Through the process, the SCPP Team was surprised to hear that the source of funding may have 
influenced people’s interest and willingness to participate in a program. For example, some 

Page 18 
 



applicants indicated they were interested in participating in the SCPP because four 
municipalities—including three Lower Basin municipalities—were helping fund the program. 
They felt this represented an enhanced level of cooperation and collaboration between the 
Upper and Lower Basin states as well as municipal and agricultural water users. By contrast, 
several potential applicants indicated that they were not interested in participating in the SCPP 
because it was partially funded by the federal government. While it is impossible to create a 
program to accommodate everyone, it is important to know and understand that the source of 
funding may influence participation.  

f. Administrative agency. The UCRC was ultimately responsible for all contracting and funding 
distribution. Although this was a new role for the UCRC, it does have authority to administer 
contract work and has done so in the past.  The UCRC agreed to facilitate the program in the 
Upper Basin to help the Upper Basin states learn about water conservation as a drought 
contingency management tool, and because the UCRC was best situated to perform the 
program’s administration due to its authorities and connections within the basin. The UCRC had 
to rely on volunteered assistance from the states and Reclamation due to its limited staffing. 
The nature of the SCPP was such that it required collaboration from the Funding Agencies, 
Reclamation staff, technical and legal representatives from each of the Upper Basin states, the 
Compact Commissioners and the UCRC staff. 

Program administration was a challenge because of the small, 3-person UCRC staff.  The funders 
provided money for verification and some project evaluation.  To address the large 
administrative workload, the state of Colorado provided legal/contracting assistance and 
program coordination with the funders.  Reclamation provided part of a staff person’s time to 
assist with verification, tracking, payment processing, coordination and other administrative 
functions.  UCRC staff was heavily involved in program coordination, tracking, funding, account 
management and overall program management.  Each of the states provided assistance in 
project development, contract review, project selection and general direction through the 
UCRC. 

B. Operational Lessons 
The following lessons fall into the category of project operations. Early on, the Funding Agencies agreed 
that the available funding would be used to pay participants to reduce consumptive use; not to fund 
research or cost-intensive methods to verify savings. Therefore, standard approaches, using readily 
available data and information, were adopted to estimate consumptive use savings. A larger-scale 
program should consider a means of improving data available for consumptive use estimates. . 

a. Site verification visits. Verification of project compliance for a majority of the projects was 
completed via multiple site verification visits. The site verification visits were tailored to meet 
the needs of each project and consisted primarily of verifying that the river headgates were 
closed if applicable, the on-farm delivery headgates were closed if applicable, and no irrigation 
water was being applied to the project fields during the contracted dates. Photos of most 
headgates and fields were taken and documented in a formal verification report. This method 

Page 19 
 



proved adequate to verify the participants were complying with the contracted project activity; 
however, it is recommended additional verification measures be explored in order to estimate 
water savings.  

b. Estimating conserved consumptive use. Compensation for SCPP participants had to be 
determined in advance of the actual conservation activity.  To accomplish this, an original 
estimated conserved consumptive use volume was calculated based upon historical 
consumptive use data and availability of water supply at each participant site.  This information 
was then used to establish the compensation amount for each participant. In 2016 and 2017, 
WWG worked closely with the selected participants in Colorado, Utah, and New Mexico to verify 
that the conserved consumptive use estimates provided in the applications were reasonable and 
included water supply limitations. Similarly, the Wyoming State Engineer’s Office completed the 
conserved consumptive use estimates for the Wyoming participants for the three program years 
(2015, 2016 and 2017) and adjusted the estimates, as needed, to account for water supply 
limitations. This process was a fundamental component of the SCPP and broadened the 
conversation surrounding the following concepts:  

o Methods are constrained by data. The availability of data—including irrigated acreage, 
crop type, and diversion records—is inconsistent throughout the Upper Basin states. 
Because of this, different methods were used in each state to estimate the conserved 
consumptive use provided for in the applications: 

New Mexico – Monthly modified Blaney-Criddle method with an elevation 
adjustment was used to estimate the potential consumptive use. Water supply 
limitations were estimated based on conversations with the State Engineer’s 
Office and ditch companies.  

Utah – The Division of Water Resources estimates consumptive use at climate 
stations throughout the state using a monthly calibrated Soil Conservation 
Service Blaney-Criddle method; however, these analyses have not been updated 
since 1994.7 Water supply limitations were estimated based on conversations 
with the Division of Water Resources and ditch companies.  

Colorado – Monthly modified Blaney-Criddle method with an elevation 
adjustment and historical diversion records were used to estimate water supply 
limited consumptive use.  

Wyoming – The State Engineer’s Office used a METRIC-based analysis using 
Landsat imagery from 2011 to estimate the conserved consumptive use. 
Because 2011 was a hydrologically wet year, average water supply limitations 
were estimated based on regulation dates and conversations with the State 
Engineer’s Office.  

7 Utah Division of Water Right: Consumptive Use Information Table. Available at: 
http://waterrights.utah.gov/techinfo/consumpt/default.asp  

Page 20 
 

                                                           

http://waterrights.utah.gov/techinfo/consumpt/default.asp


Based on the available data and resources in each state, implementing one method for 
estimating consumptive use was not practical. Future direct-measurement options 
could include on-farm instrumentation to measure irrigated and non-irrigated field 
water use, or a remote sensing method, such as METRIC.  In lieu of direct-measurement 
options, it is important for future program administrators to understand the data 
constraints in each state, the differences between each method, and the assumptions 
used to estimate water supply limitations. 

o Defining “historical.” Because water availability in the Upper Basin is highly dependent 
on hydrologic year type, it is necessary to consider an “average” or “likely” consumptive 
use for estimating funding requirements for application review. The number of years of 
data included in a historical consumptive use analysis to estimate average consumptive 
use for the application varied. Therefore, the consumptive use estimates for some 
projects were based on 5 years of data while others were based on 25 years of data. 
When applications were being accepted, it was not possible to predict the upcoming 
hydrologic year type. There was some comfort with using average consumptive use as 
the basis of payment with the understanding that there was shared risk between the 
funders and the applicant, as discussed in more detail below. Another option would be 
to have the applicant provide historical consumptive use representing a range of 
hydrologic year types where that information is available, and tie it to different payment 
options. A clearer definition of what is acceptable for the application should be 
considered, while keeping in mind that it would require flexibility to account for crop 
changes and ownership over time.  

o Verifying historical crop type. Part of the reason the SCPP was based on historical 
consumptive use was because the SCPP Team did not want to incentivize applicants to, 
for instance, plant high consumptive use crops for one year and then be compensated 
the following year based on that high consumptive use, or to irrigate for a single year 
when they had not been consistently irrigating in the past. To this end, the SCPP 
compensated participants based on original estimated conserved consumptive use. 
During the project selection process, the applicants were specifically asked to verbally 
confirm that they historically grew the same crops upon which their consumptive use 
estimates were based; for most applications, the SCPP Team was unable to 
independently confirm historical crop types. After contracts were signed, there were 
some instances in which it became known that the applicants’ historical crop types were 
not accurate (e.g., planted corn and alfalfa rather than just planting alfalfa).  

o Accounting for soil moisture in the consumptive use estimates. During the first year of 
the SCPP, it was acknowledged that it would be difficult to account for consumptive use 
from soil storage during the “fallowing” period because diversion records were generally 
not available. It is understood that the consumptive use from soil moisture occurs when 
fields are partially irrigated or fallowed; however, either diversion records are required 
to estimate soil reservoir contents or soil moisture sensors must be installed on 

Page 21 
 



participating fields. Given the economic constraints of the SCPP and the cost associated 
with installing the necessary diversion meters or soil moisture sensors, quantifying 
consumptive use from soil moisture was not feasible. Therefore, it is possible that 
applicants that partially fallowed fields in 2015 were over-compensated and the actual 
conserved consumptive use was less than the contracted amount.  

During the second and third years of the SCPP, the consumptive use from soil moisture 
was estimated using two different approaches for two projects in which the fields were 
intermittently irrigated (for example, irrigated one day per month or irrigated one time 
during the middle of the summer for 5 consecutive days). One of the approaches 
assumed one day of irrigation would fill the soil zone enough to meet the crop irrigation 
requirement for one week. The other approach assumed the soil zone was filled from 
irrigation and fully consumed thereafter. For both approaches, the conserved 
consumptive use estimates were adjusted accordingly.  

It is fully understood that these methods provide rough estimates of consumptive use 
from soil moisture; however, they are the most practical approaches given 
instrumentation and data limitations. It is recommended that future programs explore 
different options to more realistically account for consumptive use from soil moisture.  

c. Understanding the impacts of land management strategies. The SCPP did not specify land 
management standards for fallowed fields (for example, implementing wind erosion control 
measures, or managing/controlling weed and plant growth). Three of the projects, however, 
voluntarily implemented these measures, providing the following benefits:  

o The consumptive use from the soil zone was close to zero because there were no 
weed/plant roots—resulting in completely barren fields. 

o The fields were mechanically tilled to control wind erosion and minimize dust 

o The fields appeared well-maintained and were not eyesores for the community. 

The full extent of these land management strategies likely can only be implemented on fields 
that grow annual crops (i.e., corn) rather than perennial crops (i.e., alfalfa and grass pasture). 
However, a scaled version of these measures could be considered as a requirement on fields 
that grow both annual and perennial crops to reduce wind erosion and dust. 

d. Project types. Learning about the nuances associated with different types of projects was an 
important element of the SCPP. Lessons associated with each type of project are summarized 
below:   

o Agricultural projects on ditches with multiple water users. The size of the ditch greatly 
influences how conserved water can be accounted for in this type of program. For 
projects diverting water on ditches with multiple water users, the following approaches 
were explored in the SCPP:    

• Large ditch managed by a ditch company that was not involved in SCPP 
activities. For the majority of the projects involving large ditches managed by 

Page 22 
 



ditch companies, the ditch company entity was not involved in SCPP project 
activities. Therefore, all diversions—including those associated with program 
participants—were diverted as normal at the river headgate, and on-farm 
delivery headgates were closed to ensure no water could be applied to the 
participating fields. In theory, the conserved water associated with the program 
returned to the river via natural drainages or tailed back with ditch return flows. 
Verifying and quantifying whether the conserved water returned to the system 
was not feasible given the lack of measurement devices on the large ditch 
systems and ditch company bylaws.  

While this approach may not be ideal, it is the most realistic because many ditch 
companies do not have the capacity and wherewithal to accommodate these 
types of programs (i.e., they are personnel and funding limited, constrained by 
ditch company bylaws, etc.). Ten agricultural projects (23 percent) fell into this 
category in 2015 through 2017. 

Small to medium size ditches with multiple water users. Some of the projects 
involve smaller ditches that have a handful of water users that divert water 
from the same river headgate; however, the ditch is not managed by a ditch 
company. For these projects, two options were explored:  

• The water associated with the project fields was diverted at the river 
headgate and returned to the system through natural drainages, 
spillways or the ditch tailback. Although the conserved water bypassed 
the enrolled fields, it ran the risk of being diverted by other ditch users 
before being returned to the river. Two agricultural projects (5 percent) 
fell into this category in 2015 through 2017.  

• The diversions were reduced at the river headgates by a quantity 
equivalent to the participant’s interest in the associated water rights. 
For verification, these participants closed their on-farm delivery 
headgates or pumps to ensure water was not applied to the Project 
fields. Reducing diversions at the river headgate is preferred because 
the water associated with the Project fields remains in the river—thus 
eliminating the risk that it will be consumed by other users on the ditch 
before returning to the system. Five agricultural projects (12 percent) 
fell into this category in 2015 through 2017.  

o Agricultural projects on ditches with single water users. Verification of projects located 
on small ditches in which the participants were the sole diverters allowed the river 
headgates to be closed so the foregone diversions remained in the river. Note, even 
though the conserved water remained in the system, it was not guaranteed to flow to 
Lake Powell because it could be diverted downstream, as discussed below. Single water 
user ditch projects accounted for 18 (42 percent) of the agricultural projects selected in 
2015 through 2017. 

Page 23 
 



o Storage projects. Two of the agricultural projects involved a storage component. A brief 
description of each project and the associated lessons learned are provided below:  

• For one of the projects, the enrolled fields were typically irrigated from a 
combination of direct streamflow water diverted on a large ditch and storage 
water released from a private reservoir operated by an association. The 
diversions at the river headgate continued as normal; however, the applicant’s 
shares were not applied to the project fields and remained in the ditch for use 
on other fields. An equivalent quantity of water equal to the consumptive use 
from the shares (125 acre-feet) in a private reservoir was not released for 
irrigation during Water Year 2016. Because the reservoir historically fills and 
empties each year, any carryover storage from 2016 should result in an 
equivalent reduction of water stored in 2017.  

Project verification included visually inspecting that the project fields were dry 
through monthly site visits and a storage analysis. The storage analysis included 
a site verification visit at the end of the irrigation season to verify an equivalent 
amount equal to the conserved consumptive use associated with the project 
fields was retained in the reservoir at the end of the irrigation season. 
Additionally, for study purposes only, WWG will perform an analysis in 2017 to 
determine if the reservoir would have filled without the carryover storage. The 
results of this analysis will not affect compensation to the applicant.  

This project, located in Colorado, took significant coordination with the State 
Engineer’s Office to develop a plan that worked within the constraints of 
Colorado water law. Initially, the project was developed such that the conserved 
water would remain in storage until the end of the irrigation season and then be 
released in November to benefit low streamflows and minimize the risk of it 
being diverted by downstream users. This was not feasible because the water in 
the reservoir could only be legally released for a decreed beneficial use. 
Therefore, the water was “carried over” to the next year—decreasing the 
amount of water diverted to storage in 2017. To continue incorporating projects 
like this in future programs, program administrators will have to work closely 
with the applicant, associated reservoir companies, and state water officials to 
develop creative legal solutions. 

Additionally, the reservoir association that operates this reservoir was wary and 
hesitant of this project—creating another barrier to project implementation. 
Because of this, the project verification had to be developed without the 
association’s cooperation. Cultural attitudes and perceptions about the SCPP are 
discussed below in the Community Outreach and Education section of this 
report.  

• Similar to the project above, one project in Wyoming included a storage 
component in which the enrolled fields typically receive irrigation water from 

Page 24 
 



direct flow rights and water stored in a private reservoir. Due to water law 
constraints, the same approach was taken with this project; however, the water 
stored in the reservoir could not be verified at the end of the irrigation season 
because there is no gage at the reservoir. While this made verification more 
difficult, the reservoir could only legally release water to irrigate the fields 
enrolled in the SCPP; therefore, the conserved consumptive use portion likely 
remained as carryover storage.  

The SCPP selected this project to better understand the challenges associated 
with storage projects. It is recommended that future program administrators 
consider the importance of measuring capabilities in conjunction with the 
associated costs to applicants for installing measuring equipment.  

o Municipal projects. One municipal project that involved both indoor and outdoor 
municipal water use was selected in the SCPP. For this project, trans-basin diversions for 
municipal use outside the Colorado River basin were reduced by 200 acre-feet. This 
project was unique because the foregone diversions were measured.  Additional 
verification included assuring that the foregone diversions would have been taken in 
priority and that there was a clear use for them outside the Colorado River Basin. A 
second municipal project involved outdoor irrigation of sports complex fields.  The 
project helped fund automation that reduced the number of days of irrigation and 
allowed scheduled irrigations to cease based on automated rain sensors.  

o Federal projects. One project involving coordination with the Bureau of Reclamation 
was selected in 2017. The lessons learned from this project will be summarized in the 
2017 supplemental report. 

o Tribal projects. One Tribal project was selected in 2017. The lessons learned from this 
project will be summarized in the 2017 supplemental report.  

e. Integrating flexibility for contracted project activities. The majority of the selected projects had 
well-defined project guidelines outlined in the contracts, including the fields that would be 
enrolled, type of irrigation practice that was going to be implemented (i.e., fallow or split season 
deficit irrigation), the type of cover plant that would be planted if applicable, and clear start and 
end dates. While this approach is ideal from the perspective of the program administrators, it 
may discourage people from participating because every detail must be planned—resulting in 
limited flexibility. 

To explore what a more flexible approach looks like, the SCPP selected two projects that 
incorporate different flexibility opportunities. Each project and the associated lessons learned 
are described below.  

o Flexible irrigation practice. The SCPP selected one project in which the applicant agreed 
to conserve at least one acre-foot per acre and no more than 2.5 acre-feet per acre of 
water. Compensation was based on a consumptive use analysis performed at the end of 
the irrigation season that accounted for his observed practice. From the perspective of 

Page 25 
 



the participant, this approach was more practical because it allowed flexibility to either 
fallow the enrolled fields, or plant and partially irrigate a low water use cover crop 
depending on whether he had the time and capacity to install a drip irrigation system. 
From an administrative perspective, this approach proved more challenging because it 
required the funders to budget for the maximum payment; potentially reserving funding 
that could be used elsewhere. Additionally, this approach required extensive outreach 
and communication with the applicant.  

o Flexible field rotation. The SCPP selected one multi-year project in which the enrolled 
fields could be rotated each year as long as the conserved consumptive use was the 
same. From an administrative perspective, this approach was feasible because the 
payment was the same each year; therefore, the contract did not have to be amended. 
However, a new Verification Plan was developed each year to reflect the enrolled fields. 
From a participant perspective, this type of flexibility is crucial because the participants 
reap the known benefits associated with rotational fallowing (e.g., soil health) and do 
not have to worry about the long-term impacts (e.g., crop yield, crop recovery, reduced 
return flows) of fallowing and/or split season deficit irrigation. Future programs should 
explore ways to efficiently integrate this type of flexibility.  

C. Project Costs, Benefits, and Risks 
The following lessons fall under the category of project costs, benefits, and risks—including lessons 
regarding risks that projected saved water may not be actual saved water, and risks of setting market 
value. 

a. Risks associated with historical consumptive use. The participants were paid based on original 
estimated conserved consumptive use. Although the methods for estimating the consumptive 
use vary across the states, the goal was to have the estimates represent the average supply 
limited historical consumptive use. Therefore, the risk is distributed between the participants 
and the funders. For example, in a wet hydrologic year, the crops are more likely to receive a 
greater supply and actual consumptive use is closer to potential consumptive use.  In this 
scenario, the participants bear the risk because they are underpaid (i.e., their conserved 
consumptive use in a wet year would have been greater than the calculated conserved 
consumptive use for an average year). However, in a hydrologically dry year, supply limitations 
constrain the actual consumptive use and the funders bear the risk because the participants 
may be overpaid. This method was accepted by both the funders and the participants. Future 
programs could explore whether participants would be willing to be paid based on estimated 
consumptive use in the year the project was implemented—which could be calculated at the 
end of the irrigation season—rather than an estimated historical average consumptive use. As 
previously noted, payment based on estimated consumptive use in the year the project was 
implemented increases program flexibility for the participants; however, it requires a change in 
how the projects are budgeted because the funders would need to set aside funds for maximum 
payment, making it more challenging for the participants to financially plan because they do not 

Page 26 
 



know their compensation until the end of the irrigation season. This approach would remove 
the risk from the funders and participants, but add an element of uncertainty for both.  

b. Negotiating cost per acre-foot. In 2015 and 2016, the cost per acre-foot was consistent for 
similar projects (i.e., fallowing, municipal, etc.); however, program administrators were 
concerned that the SCPP might set the market price in the Upper Basin for other future projects. 
Most of the 2017 projects came in at the same unit cost, likely because the cost for the previous 
years was well known. To gain a better understanding, and in recognition that there was not 
funding available for all applications, applicants were approached to see if they would accept a 
lower unit price. This resulted in the selected participants agreeing to a negotiated, slightly 
reduced cost per acre-foot.  
The discussion of cost negotiations initiated a broader conversation about the following:  

o Does there need to be price consistency between similar projects in the Upper Basin?  
o How can the applicants develop competitive prices without an established market?  
o How does a program like this refrain from setting market prices?  
o If conserved water at the participant level cannot be protected throughout the stream 

system, will continuing with similar projects create the perception of payment for 
participation rather than payment for conserved water? 

o Should future programs be designed such that the funders identify the maximum price 
they are willing to pay per acre-foot; or should the applicants identify the minimum 
price they are willing to accept (i.e., a reverse auction)? Who should determine this? 
What are the pros and cons of each?  

This is an ongoing conversation that needs to be further explored and, potentially, incorporated 
into the design of future programs.  

D. Legal Constraints   
The following lessons fall under into the category of legal constraints and, more specifically, the issues 
associated with assuring that conserved water can provide system benefits, and the protection of 
participant and non-participant water rights. 

a. Shepherding water. In the Upper Basin states, water is only legally protected from downstream 
users if it is decreed for a state-approved beneficial use—such as municipal, agricultural, 
recreational, etc. Currently, intentionally leaving water in the river to flow to Lake Powell (or 
across a state line) does not count as beneficial use and, therefore, conserved water can legally 
be diverted by downstream users. The lack of protection makes it difficult to monitor whether 
the conserved water is making it to Lake Powell and may bring into question the 
validity/effectiveness of this type of program and/or discourage participation. To maximize the 
value of a water-savings program for both funders and participants, conserved water should be 
accounted for and protected from downstream diversions. 

b. Addressing the impacts of reduced return flows. Changes in irrigation and diversion practices 
reduce the availability of late season return flows—which in Upper Basin water-short systems 
may be critical to preventing injury to downstream users. While the SCPP discussed the impacts 

Page 27 
 



of reduced late season return flows during the project selection process, there was no 
mechanism to account for and/or address these impacts. In a larger-scale program, these 
impacts will need to be considered to prevent injury to other water right holders and non-
program participants.  

c.  Protection of water rights from non-use.  In some states, abandonment and forfeiture of a 
water right due to SCPP participation was a concern for water users.  Should a long-term 
program be developed, it will be important to educate potential participants about the 
implications, if any, of program participation on the validity of their water rights. 

E. Community Outreach and Education   
The following lessons fall under the category of community outreach and education. While the SCPP was 
very successful and significantly raised awareness about water conservation opportunities, more can be 
done to support future programs. 

a. Understanding the public perception and cultural attitudes about the SCPP. There were many 
cited reasons why people considered and then chose not to participate in the SCPP; however, 
one of the main reasons in the agricultural community stemmed from misconceptions about the 
program coupled with cultural attitudes towards fallowing. For example, many water users were 
concerned about protecting their water rights from non-use while others were concerned about 
economic impacts associated with a long-term program. The prevalence of misconceptions 
underscores the importance of trust, peer-to-peer networking, education, and community 
outreach; there was higher participation in areas where trusted water managers, 
administrators, and water users understood and supported the program. Identifying the trusted 
water authorities in each basin and working with them is critical to success. 

b. Importance of focused outreach. The importance of focused outreach has been highlighted in 
the SCPP. Both Trout Unlimited (TU) and The Nature Conservancy (TNC) conducted focused 
outreach with targeted agricultural water users to inform them about the program, encourage 
participation, and help them with the application/contracting process. Because of focused 
outreach, there were more agricultural project applications than any other water sector. The 
table below highlights the importance of focused outreach by showing the percent of 
implemented projects that were associated with TU and TNC outreach.  

Table 7. Projects Associated with Focused Outreach. 

SCPP 
Year 

% of Projects 
Associated 

with TU 

% of Projects 
Associated with 

TNC 
2015 60% 10% 
2016 50% 15% 
2017 60% 7% 

For each year of the SCPP, more than 60 percent of the implemented projects were associated 
with TU and TNC. It is evident that their on-the-ground, focused outreach resulted directly in an 
increased number of agricultural project applications and geographic diversity. For example, TU 

Page 28 
 



did not have focused outreach in Utah during 2016, but increased their outreach for project year 
2017. As a result, the number of applications and selected projects in Utah increased 
significantly. New Mexico did not benefit from focused outreach from TNC or TU as neither is 
currently active in the San Juan Basin in New Mexico. 

Focused outreach to this extent did not occur in other water sectors (e.g., municipal, industrial, 
etc.), which could be a reason for limited project diversity. Focused outreach could increase 
both geographic and project-type diversity.  

c. Importance of local outreach. In addition to focused outreach, a local community presence 
proved important for agricultural participation. Both TU and TNC staff worked closely with the 
agricultural participants to fill out applications and navigate the contracting process. 
Additionally, many of the TU and TNC staff members live and ranch in the areas where they 
work. This peer-to-peer networking helped build trust and promote participation. Throughout 
the program, the ranchers and farmers preferred face-to-face conversations with someone 
living/working in their community rather than talking on the phone with someone outside their 
basin. 

Although TU and TNC staff was integral to the success of the SCPP, they did not receive funding 
from the program for their efforts. Moving forward, future program administrators should 
consider the importance of local outreach.  
 

 

Page 29 
 



Appendix A: System Conservation Pilot Program Consumptive Use 
Analysis (2015) 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

Background 

The Upper Basin System Conservation Pilot Program, established through the System Conservation 
Agreement8, promotes temporary, voluntary, measurable reduction of consumptive use of Colorado 
River water in order to increase storage levels of Lake Mead and Lake Powell. As part of the SCPP, 
individual project performance is evaluated through project-specific verification plans, which include a 
potential consumptive use analysis using the Penman-Monteith method—reduced as necessary by 
water supply limitations—and climate data from a nearby climate station. The purpose of the 
consumptive use analysis is to quantify the amount of water each project conserved by participating in 
the System Conservation Pilot Program during the 2015 irrigation season. An ultimate goal is for the 
conserved water to increase the storage level in Lake Powell.  

The conserved consumptive use estimates calculated by WWG and documented in this Appendix are 
generally greater than or equal to the applicant’s estimate. For the 2016 applications, the conserved 
consumptive use estimates provided in each application were thoroughly reviewed prior to project 
selection.  

Approach 

The following, simplified, approach was used for each consumptive use analysis:  

1. Used climate data from the nearby climate station defined in each Verification Plan.  Each 
Verification Plan identified an appropriate climate station. Climate data from each station was 
reviewed and corrected using American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE) standards. Due to 
errant data at the Orchard Mesa CoAgMet station, data from the Colorado State University 
Fruita CoAgMet station was used for the Grand Valley Farm analysis.  

2. Estimated the potential consumptive use using Penman-Monteith. The potential consumptive 
use was estimated using a daily Penman-Monteith calculation and was reduced by daily 
effective precipitation (per Soil Conservation Service (SCS) National Engineering Handbook 
Section 4 (NEH4) guidelines) to determine the potential consumptive use from irrigation during 
the project-specific contracted dates of participation. The calculated consumptive use from 
irrigation water equals the net savings during the fallowing period.  

3. Adjusted results for water supply limitations. As outlined in each Verification Plan, the 
potential consumptive use estimate would be adequately adjusted for water supply limitations 
based on available information. The 2015 diversion records were not available in either 
Colorado or Wyoming at the time the analysis was completed. Based on discussions with staff 
from the State Engineer’s Office, including water commissioners, 2015 was generally a wet year. 

8 “Agreement Among the United States of America, through the Department of the Interior, Bureau of Reclamation, the Central 
Arizona Water Conservation District, The Metropolitan Water District of Southern California, Denver Water, and the Southern 
Nevada Water Authority, for a Pilot Program for Funding the Creation of Colorado River System Water through Voluntary Water 
Conservation and Reductions in Use.” 

Page 30 
 

                                                           



However, to be conservative in the analysis, average historical water supply limitations were 
applied to the Colorado projects. Similarly, water supply limitations were applied to the 
Wyoming projects by comparing the 2011 potential consumptive use to the estimated 
consumptive use from 2011 remote sensing. This is important because not all projects receive a 
full supply even in wet hydrologic years due to supply limitations, especially on smaller 
tributaries, and a lack of storage.  
 

Results 

The results from the daily consumptive use analyses are provided in Table 8. In the observations 
column, “Actual water savings is close to the contracted value” indicates the results from this analysis 
were within 10 percent of the contracted conserved consumptive use estimate. “Actual water savings is 
higher/less than the contracted value” indicates the results from this analysis differed from the 
contracted conserved consumptive use by more than 10 percent. In general, the majority of the 
conserved consumptive use estimates for the projects implemented in 2015 were more than 10 percent 
higher than the estimates provided in the application. Differences between the applicant’s estimated 
historical average consumptive use savings and the estimated consumptive use savings are due to 
climate and water availability for the SCPP year. 

Note, per the Contract and Verification Plan, a consumptive use analysis was not completed by WWG for 
the Water Bank sites. Additionally, the values presented below are rounded for simplicity.  

  

 

 

 

 

Page 31 
 



 Table 8. The 2015 Estimated Conserved Consumptive Use (CCU) Results 

Tributary Name State 
Total 

Acreage 
Crop 

Dates of Fallowing or 
Deficit Irrigation (2015) 

Selected 
Climate Station 

Cost per 
acre-foot 

Total Cost 
for 2015 

Estimated CCU 
per Application 

(acre-feet) 

Estimated CCU 
per Analysis 
(acre-feet) 

Observations 

Fontenelle Creek WY 221 
Grass 

Pasture 
July 15 – September 30 Budd Ranch $          200 $        49,600 248 259 Estimated water savings is close to the contracted value 

Cottonwood Creek WY 1,736 
Grass 

Pasture 
July 15 – September 30 Budd Ranch $          200 $      240,492 1,202 1,442 

Estimated water savings is higher than the contracted 
value 

Middle Piney Creek WY 40 
Grass 

Pasture 
July 15 – September 30 Budd Ranch $          200 $          6,313 32 38 

Estimated water savings is higher than the contracted 
value 

Middle Piney Creek WY 101 
Grass 

Pasture 
July 15 – September 30 Budd Ranch $          200 $        17,563 88 103 

Estimated water savings is higher than the contracted 
value 

Pine Creek WY 81 
Grass 

Pasture 
July 15 – October 31 Boulder $          200 $        14,832 74 99 

Estimated water savings is higher than the contracted 
value 

Uncompahgre River CO 23 Corn All of 2015 Delta $          200 $        13,650 46 33 
Estimated water savings is less than the contracted 
value 

Yampa River CO 193 
Grass 

Pasture 
July 1 – November 1 Hayden $          200 $        37,600 188 239 

Estimated water savings is higher than the contracted 
value 

Colorado River – 
Grand Valley 

CO 200 
Corn & 
Alfalfa 

All of 2015 CSU Fruita $          330 $      110,220 334 376 
Estimated water savings is higher than the contracted 
value 

Various Tributaries 
on Colorado’s West 
Slope 

CO 51 
Grass 

pasture & 
Alfalfa 

Various Dates 
Throughout 2015 

- $          300 $        16,860 56 56A) See note below.  

A) Per the contract, Water Bank Working Group will complete a consumptive use analysis that integrates field specific water-balance data. This analysis is not yet complete; therefore, it is assumed the estimated CCU equals the 
historical average estimated CCU per the application.  

 

Page 32 
 



Appendix B: System Conservation Pilot Program Consumptive Use 
Analysis (2016) 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

Background 

The Upper Basin System Conservation Pilot Program, established through the System Conservation 
Agreement9, promotes temporary, voluntary, measurable reduction of consumptive use of Colorado 
River water in order to increase storage levels of Lake Mead and Lake Powell. As part of the SCPP, 
individual project performance is evaluated through project-specific verification plans which include a 
potential consumptive use analysis—reduced as necessary by water supply limitations—with climate 
data from a nearby climate station. The purpose of the consumptive use analysis is to quantify the 
amount of water each project conserved by participating in the System Conservation Pilot Program 
during the 2016 irrigation season.  

As part of the 2016 project selection process, the conserved consumptive use estimates provided in the 
applications were reviewed, verified, and adjusted if needed. The estimates were generally based on 
historical averages that accounted for water supply limitations. However, some of the estimates were 
negotiated based on pending water right court cases or based on documented reports.  

Approach 

The following simplified approach was used for each consumptive use analysis:  

1. Collect climate data from nearby climate stations.  A nearby climate station was selected for 
each project. Climate data from each station was reviewed and corrected using ASCE standards 
as outlined in Appendix D ASCE Manual 70.  

2. Estimate potential consumptive use. The potential consumptive use for the projects in each 
state was estimated using the following methods. For consistency, the method used in this 
analysis—either modified Blaney-Criddle or Penman-Monteith—was selected based on the 
method used in the applications and the availability of meteorological data. 

• New Mexico – Modified Blaney-Criddle was used to estimate the conserved 
consumptive use in the application and, subsequently, for this analysis.  

• Utah – Modified Blaney-Criddle was used to estimate the conserved consumptive use in 
the application and, subsequently, for this analysis. 

• Wyoming – Mapping EvapoTranspiration with High Resolution and Internalized 
Calibration (METRIC) was used to estimate the conserved consumptive use in the 
applications. Because this method was only used to develop estimates for 2011, a daily 
Penman-Monteith calculation was used for this analysis. 

• Colorado – Modified Blaney-Criddle was used to estimate the conserved consumptive 
use in the applications and, subsequently, for this analysis. 

9 “Agreement Among the United States of America, through the Department of the Interior, Bureau of Reclamation, the Central 
Arizona Water Conservation District, The Metropolitan Water District of Southern California, Denver Water, and the Southern 
Nevada Water Authority, for a Pilot Program for Funding the Creation of Colorado River System Water through Voluntary Water 
Conservation and Reductions in Use.” 

Page 33 
 

                                                           



The potential consumptive use estimates were reduced by daily effective precipitation (per SCS 
NEH4 guidelines for the Penman-Monteith calculations and the SCS Technical Release-21 
method for the Modified Blaney-Criddle calculations) to determine the potential consumptive 
use from irrigation during the project-specific contracted dates of participation. The calculated 
consumptive use from irrigation water equals the maximum net savings during the fallowing or 
deficit irrigation period.  

3. Adjust results for water supply limitations. In general, 2016 represented an average water 
supply year with warmer temperatures—allowing for a longer growing season. To account for 
water supply limitations, the following methods were used to adjust the potential consumptive 
use estimates based on the available information in each state:  

• New Mexico – According to the State Engineer’s Office, the ditches associated with 
Lawrence Stock were not supply limited in 2016; therefore, no water supply limitations 
were applied to the consumptive use estimate.  

• Utah – The State Engineer’s Office confirmed 2016 was an average hydrologic year and 
Rainbow Glass Ranch would not have been supply limited. Therefore, no water supply 
limitations were applied to the consumptive use estimate.  

• Wyoming – Diversion records are not recorded unless a ditch is being administered; 
however, the State Engineer’s Office confirmed it was an average hydrologic year and 
the consumptive use estimates were adjusted by the average historical shortage.  

• Colorado – The 2016 diversion records were not available at the time this analysis was 
completed. However, the State Engineer’s Office confirmed it was an average hydrologic 
year and the consumptive use estimates were adjusted by the associated average 
historical shortage.  
 

Results 

Results from the consumptive use analyses are provided in Table 9. In the observations column, “Actual 
water savings is close to the contracted value” indicates the results from this analysis were within 10 
percent of the contracted conserved consumptive use estimate. “Actual water savings is higher/less 
than the contracted value” indicates the results from this analysis differed from the contracted 
conserved consumptive use by more than 10 percent. Differences between the applicant’s estimated 
historical average consumptive use savings and the estimated consumptive use savings are due to 
climate and water availability for the SCPP year. In general, the majority of the conserved consumptive 
use estimates for the projects selected in 2016 were within 10 percent of the estimates provided in the 
application.  

Note: The values presented below are rounded for simplicity.

Page 34 
 



Table 9. The 2016 Estimated Conserved Consumptive Use (CCU) Results 

Tributary Name State 
Total 

Acreage 
Crop 

Dates of Fallowing or 
Deficit Irrigation (2016) 

Selected Climate 
Station 

Cost per 
acre-foot 

Total Cost for 
2016 

Estimated CCU 
per Application  

(acre-feet) 

Estimated CCU 
per Analysis 
(acre-feet) 

Observations 

Animas River & San Juan NM 58 Grass Pasture April 1 - October 31 
Farmington Agricultural 

Science Center  
$        200 $        30,366 152 156 Estimated water savings is close to the contracted value 

Ferron Creek UT 240 
Alfalfa &  

Grass Pasture 
April 1 – August 31 

October 1 – October 31 
Ferron $        200 $     103,380 517 586 Estimated water savings is higher than the contracted value 

Fontenelle Creek WY 381 Grass Pasture June 20 – October 31 Budd Ranch $        200 $        93,200 466 378 Estimated water savings is less than the contracted value 
Cottonwood Creek WY 726 Grass Pasture July 15 – September 30 Budd Ranch $        200 $        96,400 482 686 Estimated water savings is higher than the contracted value 
Middle Piney Creek WY 1,240 Grass Pasture May 15 – September 30 Budd Ranch $        200 $     227,000 1,135 1,158 Estimated water savings is close to the contracted value 
Middle Piney Creek WY 184 Grass Pasture July 20 – September 30 Budd Ranch $        200 $        35,600 178 160 Estimated water savings is close to the contracted value 
South Fork Horse Creek WY 1,103 Grass Pasture June 5 – September 30 Budd Ranch $        200 $     245,200 1,226 1,213 Estimated water savings is close to the contracted value 
South Cottonwood Creek WY 1,631 Grass Pasture July 15 – September 30 Budd Ranch $        200 $     228,600 1,143 1,541 Estimated water savings is higher than the contracted value 
Pine Creek WY 82 Grass Pasture July 20 – October 31 Boulder $        200 $        14,000 70 83 Estimated water savings is higher than the contracted value 
Ham’s Fork River WY 292 Grass Pasture July 1 – September 30 Bridger Valley $        200 $        79,000 395 423 Estimated water savings is close to the contracted value 
Black’s Fork River WY 40 Grass Pasture July 1 – September 30 Bridger Valley $        200 $        21,000 105 108 Estimated water savings is close to the contracted value 

Uncompahgre River CO 44 
Alfalfa, Corn, Dry 
Beans & Clover 

January 1 – October 31 Montrose No. 2 $        200 $        20,300 Not Applicable 102 Compensated based on actual practice and associated CU 

Uncompahgre River CO 10 
Alfalfa, Corn & 

Clover 

January 1 – December 31 
Irrigated 1 full day per 
month May through 

September  

Montrose No. 2 $        200 $          4,000 20 21 Estimated water savings is close to the contracted value 

Uncompahgre River CO 12 Alfalfa & Triticale 
January 1 – July 14 

October 16 – October 31 
Montrose No. 2  $        200 $          4,800 24 23 Estimated water savings is close to the contracted value 

Surface Creek CO 67 
Alfalfa &  

Grass Pasture 
June 10 – September 20 Delta 3 E $        250 $        31,250 125 126 Estimated water savings is close to the contracted value 

East River CO 106 Grass Pasture July 1 – October 31 
Crested Butte 

Gunnison 3 SW 
$        200 $        19,674 98 105 Estimated water savings is close to the contracted value 

Tomichi Creek CO 165 Grass Pasture July 1 – October 31 
Cochetopa Creek 
Gunnison 3 SW 

$        200 $        20,000 100 185 Estimated water savings is higher than the contracted value 

Little Cimarron River CO 195 Grass Pasture July 7 - October 31 Gunnison $        161 $        27,375 170 A) Estimated water savings is higher than the contracted value 

Milk Creek CO 94 
Alfalfa &  

Grass Pasture 
July 1 – August 31 Meeker 3W $        200 $        16,760 84 82 Estimated water savings is close to the contracted value 

Uncompahgre River CO 23 Winter Wheat June 1 – October 15 Montrose No. 2 $        250 $          7,350 29 35 Estimated water savings is higher than the contracted value 
Colorado River – Grand 
Valley B) 

CO 200 Corn & Alfalfa January 1 – December 31 Grand Junction 6 ESE $         330 $      110,220 334 465 Estimated water savings is higher than the contracted value 

South Fork Eagle River CO -  - January 1 – December 31 Not Applicable $         670 $     134,132 200 200 Same as contracted value 
Various Tributaries on 
Colorado’s West Slope 

CO 51 
Grass pasture & 

Alfalfa 
Various Dates Throughout 

2016 
- $          300 $        18,450 62 62C) See note below.  

A) Per contract, estimated CU not provided due to pending water court case.  
B) Indicates a multi-year project that was selected in 2015 and included different criteria for reviewing the CU estimates provided in the application due to the initial phase of the SCPP.  
C) Per the contract, Water Bank Working Group will complete a consumptive use analysis that integrates field specific water-balance data. This analysis is not yet complete; therefore, it is assumed the estimated CCU equals the estimated CCU per the application. 

 

Page 35 
 



1 
190204 WMP Committee Meeting Summary2 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 
TO:   Board of Directors 
 
FROM:  Watershed Management Planning Committee 
 
DATE:  February 4, 2019 
 
SUBJECT:  Summary of Watershed Management Planning Committee Meeting 

 
MISSION STATEMENT 

 
The mission of the Watershed Management Planning Group (WMPG) is to help protect existing 
water uses and watershed health in the Upper Gunnison Basin in the face of pressure from 

increased water demands and permanent reductions in water supply. 
 
 

A meeting of the Watershed Management Planning (WMP) Committee was held on 
February 4, 2019 at 1:00 p.m.   
 
George Sibley, Camille Richard, Michelle Pierce, Stacy McPhail, Jesse Kruthaupt, 
Erin Wilson, Tom Grant, Julie Nania, Ashley Bembenek, Matt Feier, Molly McConnell, 
Frank Kugel, and Beverly Richards were in attendance.   
 
George Sibley called the meeting to order.  He said his hope for the meeting today 
was to come up with a plan and schedule for completing the needs assessment in 
order to get this information out to stakeholders and the agricultural community 
before summer work begins. 
 
Review of Needs Assessment Framework and Development of Strategies and 
Timetable for Completion of Needs Assessment Reports to Stakeholders 
 
The discussion began with a review of the outline developed by the needs assessment 
sub-committee in September.  This outline will be used to determine who will be 
responsible for developing content in the interim report to be used for stakeholder 
information and to gain their input for the final report to be submitted to the CWCB.  
Much of the developed content will also be included in the final watershed 
management plan.  The committee committed to an outline for the stakeholder 
report, with individual assignments as follows: 
 
Phase I Report Writing Outline – Deadlines included 
 
This is for the Needs Assessment Reports that Sub-basin Coordinators will use in 
meetings this winter and spring with stakeholders in their sub-basins. (These reports 
will probably be included as appendices in the final report on ‘Phase I’ to the CWCB 



2 
190204 WMP Committee Meeting Summary2 

in June, with the addition by then of recommendations from stakeholders for 
demonstration projects or topics for further study and analysis.) 
 
1.0 Watershed Overview and Introduction 

• Introduction/Key Water Value and Issues – Watershed wide – George – 
February 22 

• Legal Framework – Watershed wide - Should include mention of Colorado 
River System and how this watershed is tied to that system – John – 
February 26 

• Sub-Basin Maps – WWG – SBC should determine what maps and graphs 
will be needed for their stakeholder meetings (dates to be determined) – 
February 28 
 

2.0 Sub-Basin Information  
• Introduction to sub-basin wide water uses and needs – SBC (unless noted 

otherwise) – February 22 
o Broad overview of the sub-basin 
o Legal framework specific to each sub-basin – John – February 26 

 Water rights 
o Basic information about each of the four main water uses within the 

sub-basin 
• Sub-basin Characteristics – WWG/SBC (Information from Section 2 written 

by WWG) – February 28 
o Streamflow measurements – how measured in the sub-basin 
o Climate Data – weather information and how it affects water 

availability 
o Irrigated acreage – type and quantity 
o Diversion amounts  
o Irrigation practices - summary 

 
3.0 Reach Information – February 28 

• Identify and characterize reaches selected – SBC 
o Summary of reach and its characteristics 

• Provide information about identified reaches – SBC/WWG/AEC 
o Existing water use – summary  
o Stakeholder issues - summary 
o Compilation of assessed needs, both from stakeholder input 

spreadsheets and consultant research 

All information should be provided no later than the end of February as we will need 
time for editing and development of information needed for stakeholder meetings by 
March 15th. (The report to the CWCB will also include stakeholder input on the needs 
assessment from meetings scheduled this winter and spring). 



3 
190204 WMP Committee Meeting Summary2 

Planning for Stakeholder Input Meetings to Receive Feedback on Needs 
Assessments and Ideas for Demonstration Projects 
 
Jesse Kruthaupt said he is trying to establish focus groups for Ohio Creek 
agricultural users by the middle of March.  He will contact Erin to develop 
presentation materials to be used in these meetings as well as the one-on-one 
meetings he is planning with stakeholders on Ohio Creek.  He will have this 
information to Erin by March 1st.  Focus groups for the East River and Lake Fork 
watersheds can mostly be held later in the spring.  Once the needs assessment phase 
is complete, these meetings for the East River and Lake Fork will be scheduled.   
 
Begin Discussion of Development of Budget and Scope of Work for Phase II 
 
This item will be discussed in the March committee meeting. 
 
Meeting Wrap-up and Action Items 
 
In preparation for the next meeting the following items were discussed: 
 

• There will be a meeting to discuss the needs assessment for the next grant 
phase on February 21, 2019 beginning at 10:00 a.m. 

 
• The next meeting for the Watershed Management Planning Committee will be 

March 11, 2019 beginning at 1:00 p.m.  
 
Action items include: 
 

• Sub-basin coordinators will develop rough draft of proposed groups and 
proposed dates for stakeholder meetings. 

• Sub-basin coordinators will work with WWG to develop presentation materials 
for stakeholder meetings to be held in the spring. 

• The group will provide input drafts for stakeholder report based on outline 
developed in this meeting. 

• Camille Richard and staff will develop a draft scope of work and budget for the 
second CWCB grant for review at the next committee meeting. 

 
Adjournment 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 3:40 p.m. 
 
 
 



  
 
 
January 29, 2019  
 
 
Frank Kugel, General Manager 
Upper Gunnison River Water Conservancy District 
210 West Spencer, Suite B 
Gunnison, CO 81230 
 
Dear Upper Gunnison River Water Conservancy District: 
 
We are pleased to inform you that the Colorado Department of Natural Resources, Colorado Water 
Conservation Board (CWCB) has approved your application, Upper Gunnison Basin Watershed 
Assessment and Management Planning (Phase II), for funding pursuant to the Colorado 
Watershed Restoration Program (CWRP) in the amount of $300,000. Please contact me to schedule a 
time to discuss the contracting process and additional needs. 
 
General additional needs include: 

 
• Stream Management Plan grantees must demonstrate that the planning effort put as 

much or more emphasis on environmental and recreational water uses as it does on other 
water uses. 

• All CWRP funding awards are contingent upon applicant’s ability to secure match funding. 
• All grantees should adhere to their organizational procurement policies when hiring 

contractors and consultants. CWCB recommends that State procurement polices be used 
as a guide if an organization does not have procurement policies. 

• Grantees should adequately address CWCB staff comments to scopes of work, 
engineering designs, and applications. This may result in changes. Comments are 
forthcoming. 

 
 
The CWRP Grant Program Guidance can be located on our website for additional information. 

 

Sincerely, 
Vivian Pinelli 
Administrative Assistant II 

 
 
 

P (303) 866-3441 | F (303) 866-4474 
1313 Sherman Street, Room 718 | Denver, CO 80203 
vivian.pinelli@state.co.us | cwcb.state.co.us 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM 11 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Daily Summary for Month --> Feb

1st Fill  2nd Fill  Other Aspinall BP Accnt AU Accnt 1st Fill Contract Tot 1st fill

Day of 
Month

Silver 
Jack 

Reservoir 
& Juniors 
In Priority 
(1=Yes, 
0=No)

TP 
Releases 
from TP 
2nd Fill 

Rec/Fish 
(1=Yes, 
0=No)

Excess 
Released 
TP Inflow 
and AU 

Nat Inflow 
(cfs)

Gun 
Tunnel 
(GT) 

Shortage 
after AU 

Nat Inflow 
and TP 
Inflow 
(cfs)

3-Day 
Average 

Excess TP 
Inflow and 

AU Nat 
Inflow 
(cfs)

3-Day Ave. 
GT 

Shortage 
after AU 

Nat Inflow 
and TP 
Inflow    
(cfs)

TP Res. 
Content 

(af)

TP - 
USGS 
outflow 

(cfs)

TP 
Compute
d Inflow 

(cfs)

1st Fill - 
Storage - 
in TP (af)

2nd Fill - 
Storage - 

in TP 
(af)

Other 
Account 
Storage 
in TP - 

Storage - 
(af)

AU 
Storage 
in TP - 

(af)

SJ Res 
Content 

(af)

SJ Inflow 
to 

Reservoir 
Storage 

(cfs)

BP - 
Storage - 
in SJ (af)

AU Water - 
Storage - 
in SJ (af)

BM Res 
Content 

(af)

MP Res 
Content 

(af)

CR Res 
Content 

(af)

AU 
Change In 

Storage 
(af)

Computed 
rel from 
CR (cfs)

AU inflow 
below TP 
& with AU 
Aug Rel 

(cfs)

1st Fill - 
Storage - 
in AU (af)

UGRWCD 
Contract 

water            
(af)

Gun. 
River 
below 
East 

Portal 
(cfs)

Total 
Gunnison 

Tunnel 
Divs (cfs)

GT Divs - 
AU inflow 
minus TP 
released 

inflow 
(cfs)

GT Divs - 
TP 

Released 
Inflow 
(cfs)

GT Divs - 
SJ 

Storage 
Inflow by 
AU Exch 

(cfs)

GT Divs -    
UGRWC

D 
Contract 

Water Rel    
(cfs)

GT Divs - 
Rel from 
2nd Fill 

for 
Rec/Fish     

(cfs)

GT Divs - 
1st Fill 

Credit in 
AU     

(cfs)

GT Divs - 
AU 

Storage 
by 

exchange 
w/ 2nd Fill 

in TP  
(cfs)

Remain. 
1st Fill 

Credits in 
TP and 

AU      (af)
(1) (2) (3) (5) (6) (7) (8) (11) (14) (15) (19) (25) (30) (35) (37) (40) (44) (48) (50) (54) (58) (62) (63) (65) (69) (70) (71) (74) (75) (76) (77) (78) (79) (80) (82) (83)

1 1 0 372 0 336 0 59,233 56 63 42,602 0 0 16,631 1,807 4 1,807 0 251,565 106,638 15,116 106 312 310 0 0 311 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 42,602
2 1 0 218 0 312 0 59,219 56 48 42,698 0 0 16,521 1,814 4 1,814 0 251,614 106,470 15,063 -171 312 170 0 0 311 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 42,698
3 1 0 453 0 347 0 59,275 57 85 42,867 0 0 16,408 1,823 5 1,823 0 252,008 106,379 14,988 227 311 369 0 0 310 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 42,867
4 1 0 303 0 325 0 59,290 57 64 42,994 0 0 16,296 1,830 4 1,830 0 252,057 106,310 14,980 -28 311 240 0 0 310 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 42,994
5 1 0 490 0 416 0 59,332 57 78 43,149 0 0 16,183 1,838 4 1,838 0 252,156 106,364 14,914 85 427 413 0 0 426 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 43,149
6 1 0 472 0 422 0 59,346 57 64 43,276 0 0 16,070 1,851 6 1,851 0 251,270 106,699 15,343 -122 577 459 0 0 526 51 51 0 0 0 0 0 0 43,276
7 1 0 466 0 476 0 59,290 56 27 43,330 0 0 15,960 1,855 2 1,855 0 250,974 107,128 15,191 -18 560 495 0 0 504 56 56 0 0 0 0 0 0 43,330
8 1 0 295 0 411 0 59,318 55 69 43,467 0 0 15,851 1,863 4 1,863 0 250,876 106,837 15,208 -373 470 228 0 0 469 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 43,467
9 1 0 270 0 344 0 59,332 54 61 43,587 0 0 15,745 1,871 4 1,871 0 250,531 106,745 15,236 -409 470 210 0 0 469 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 43,587
10 1 0 244 0 270 0 59,318 55 48 43,682 0 0 15,635 1,880 5 1,880 0 250,187 106,615 15,278 -432 470 197 0 0 469 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 43,682
11 1 0 1,191 0 568 0 59,290 56 42 43,765 0 0 15,525 1,890 5 1,890 0 249,694 108,112 15,732 1,458 471 1,150 0 0 470 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 43,765
12 1 0 54 0 496 0 59,290 55 55 43,872 0 0 15,417 1,897 4 1,897 0 249,302 107,089 15,749 -1,398 473 0 0 0 472 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 43,872
13 1 0 559 0 601 0 59,332 56 77 44,026 0 0 15,306 1,908 6 1,908 0 249,694 106,867 15,706 128 474 483 0 0 473 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 44,026
14 1 0      0              0   0 0 0    0     
15 0 0
16 0 0
17 0 0
18 0 0
19 0 0
20 0 0
21 0 0
22 0 0
23 0 0
24 0 0
25 0 0
26 0 0
27 0 0
28 0 0
29                                    
30                                    
31                                    

Total 14 0 5,387 0 5,325 0 725 782 55 -945 5,639 4,725 5,520 119 118 1 0 0 0 0 0
Tot (af) 10,686 0 10,561 0 1,437 1,551 108 -1,875 11,186 9,372 10,949 237 235 2 0 0 0 0 0
Min 1 0 54 0 270 0 59,219 0 27 42,602 0 0 15,306 1,807 2 1,807 0 249,302 106,310 14,914 -1,398 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 42,602
Max 1 0 1,191 0 601 0 59,346 57 85 44,026 0 0 16,631 1,908 6 1,908 0 252,156 108,112 15,749 1,458 577 1,150 0 0 526 56 56 1 0 0 0 0 0 44,026

Annual Summary (all values in ac-ft)  Note: Reservoir content is the end of the month content 
(days) (days) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af) (af)

Nov 30 0 26,913 0 25,306 0 58,780 3,317 3,649 35,362 0 0 23,417 1,096 346 1,096 0 249,793 104,066 14,160 4,751 20,001 24,273 0 18,992 1,009 916 94 0 0 0 0 35,362
Dec 31 0 23,617 0 24,083 0 58,964 3,393 3,577 38,931 0 0 20,033 1,488 393 1,488 0 248,523 107,465 14,762 2,731 20,424 20,598 0 19,867 558 549 9 0 0 0 0 38,931
Jan 31 0 23,098 0 23,041 0 59,219 3,393 3,647 42,477 0 0 16,741 1,800 311 1,800 0 251,368 106,737 15,108 2,463 20,390 19,977 0 19,863 527 426 101 0 0 0 0 42,477
Feb 14 0     1,437    11,186  10,949 237       
Mar 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Apr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
May 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Jun 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Jul 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Aug 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sep 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Oct 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 106 0 73,628 0 72,431 0 11,540 10,874 1,050 9,946 72,001 64,848 69,670 2,331 1,890 203 0 0 0 0
Min 0 0 0 0 0 0 58,964 0 0 38,931 0 0 16,741 1,488 0 1,488 0 248,523 106,737 14,762 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 38,931
Max 31 0 23,617 0 24,083 0 59,219 3,393 3,647 42,477 0 0 20,033 1,800 393 1,800 0 251,368 107,465 15,108 2,731 20,424 20,598 0 19,867 558 549 101 0 0 0 0 42,477

TO

River Call
Silver Jack Reservoir

Average Flow Reservoir Reservoir
Taylor Park Reservoir

Reservoir Contents Total Aspinall Unit Inflow Type of Water Diverted into TunnelStreamflow and Divs
GUNNISON TUNNEL ALLOCATIONAspinall Unit













































 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM 13 

 

 

 

 

 

 



1 2/15/2019 2:22 PMBeverly Richards

Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa
1 2

3 4 5 6 7 8 9
10 11 12 13 14 15 16
17 18 19 20 21 22 23
24 25 26 27 28

February 2019
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa

1 2
3 4 5 6 7 8 9

10 11 12 13 14 15 16
17 18 19 20 21 22 23
24 25 26 27 28 29 30
31

March 2019February 2019

Jan 27 28 29 30 31 Feb 1 2
Colorado Water Congress An

3 4 5 6 7 8 9
Erin Wilson (here)

8:00am Colorado Water 
Congress State Affairs
Committee (1580 

1:00pm WMP 
Committee Meeting

John's Birthday
1:00pm Webinar: Is 

water reuse on the 
rise?

12:00pm John Birthday 
Lunch - Beverly 
Richards

9:00am Colorado Water 
Congress Federal 
Affairs Committee

11:00am Teddy - Atlasta
Solar (here)

10 11 12 13 14 15 16
12:00pm Mayor 

Manager meeting 
(Palisades)

11:30am League of 
Women Voters 
(District Board Room)

1:00pm WMP Focus 
Group meeting

CDSS Workshop (REI - 
Denver)

9:30am Colorado Water 
Congress Board of 
Directors meeting 
(1580 Logan, Denver, 

8:30am Avalanche 
Safety Training - BLM 

1:00pm GRCL Board 
meeting 

2:00pm Copy: STOR 
Committee Meeting 

9:00am Copy: Invitation: 
'75 Exchange 
Agreement Update 
Discussion @ Fri Feb 
15, 2019 9am - 10am 
(MST) 

9:30am AAUW

17 18 19 20 21 22 23
Presidents' Day (United 

States)
8:00am Legislative 

Committee

John Vacation
8:00am Colorado Water 

Congress State Affairs
10:00am Frank: February

Implementation 
2:00pm Garden Club 

8:00am GRF 10:00am East River WMP
meeting - Needs 
Assessment deadline

8:00am Legislative 
Committee Meeting 
(Phone)

3:00pm ENS Talks (Hurst
Hall)

8:00am Rural Landowner
Days

9:00am DAR Meeting

24 25 26 27 28 Mar 1 2
8:00am Colorado Water 

Congress State Affairs
Committee (1580 

8:00am Park Cone
5:30pm UGRWCD Board 

of Directors Meeting 

Frank - vacation

SUNDAY MONDAY TUESDAY WEDNESDAY THURSDAY FRIDAY SATURDAY



2 2/15/2019 2:22 PMBeverly Richards

Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa
1 2

3 4 5 6 7 8 9
10 11 12 13 14 15 16
17 18 19 20 21 22 23
24 25 26 27 28 29 30
31

March 2019
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa

1 2 3 4 5 6
7 8 9 10 11 12 13

14 15 16 17 18 19 20
21 22 23 24 25 26 27
28 29 30

April 2019March 2019

Feb 24 25 26 27 28 Mar 1 2
Frank - vacation

8:00am Legislative 
Committee Meeting 

9:30am Colorado Water 

3 4 5 6 7 8 9
Frank - vacation

8:00am Colorado Water 
Congress State Affairs
Committee (1580 

AMWG meeting (Hilton Garden Inn, Tempe, AZ)
12:00pm Frank - Mayors

5:30pm Gunnison 
Conservation District 

8:00am Legislative 
Committee Meeting 
(Phone)

1:00pm TLUG Meeting

10 11 12 13 14 15 16
8:00am Colorado Water 

Congress State Affairs
1:00pm WMP 

Committee Meeting 

11:30am League of 
Women Voters 
(District Board Room)

Water in the West Symposium (Gaylord Aurora)
Environment Colorado 

Workshop (WSCU)
2:00pm Copy: STOR 

Committee Meeting 
(2nd Floor 

8:00am Legislative 
Committee Meeting 
(Phone)

17 18 19 20 21 22 23
8:00am Colorado Water 

Congress State Affairs
4:00pm Gunnison Basin 

Roundtable

10:00am Invitation: 
March 
Implementation 
Working Group #3 @ 

World Water Day
8:00am Legislative 

Committee Meeting 
(Phone)

24 25 26 27 28 29 30
8:00am Colorado Water 

Congress State Affairs
5:30pm UGRWCD Board 

of Directors Meeting 

ABA Water Law Conference (Grand Hyatt, Denver) 1:00pm CFGV Board 
Meeting

8:00am Legislative 
Committee Meeting 
(Phone)

31 Apr 1 2 3 4 5 6

SUNDAY MONDAY TUESDAY WEDNESDAY THURSDAY FRIDAY SATURDAY



3 2/15/2019 2:22 PMBeverly Richards

Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa
1 2 3 4 5 6

7 8 9 10 11 12 13
14 15 16 17 18 19 20
21 22 23 24 25 26 27
28 29 30

April 2019
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa

1 2 3 4
5 6 7 8 9 10 11

12 13 14 15 16 17 18
19 20 21 22 23 24 25
26 27 28 29 30 31

May 2019April 2019

Mar 31 Apr 1 2 3 4 5 6
8:00am Colorado Water 

Congress State Affairs
Committee (1580 
Logan, Suite 700, 
Denver)

WSCU Outdoor Industry Ethics - Summit (WSCU)
12:00pm Frank - Mayors

and Managers mtg
Southwest Water 

Seminar (Durango)
8:00am Legislative 

Committee Meeting 
(Phone)

7 8 9 10 11 12 13
8:00am Colorado Water 

Congress State Affairs
Committee (1580 

1:00pm WMP 
Committee Meeting 
(District Board Room)

11:30am League of 
Women Voters 
(District Board Room)

Frank - vacation
2:00pm Copy: STOR 

Committee Meeting 
(2nd Floor 
Conference Room, 
Blackstock's Govt 

14 15 16 17 18 19 20
Frank - vacation

8:00am Colorado Water 
Congress State Affairs
Committee (1580 
Logan, Suite 700, 
Denver)

Colorado River District Board Meeting

21 22 23 24 25 26 27
Frank - vacation 8:00am Colorado Water 

Congress State Affairs
Committee (1580 

5:30pm UGRWCD Board 
of Directors Meeting 
(UGRWCD Office - 

2019 Audit
9:30am Colorado Water 

Congress Board of 
Directors meeting 

1:00pm Aspinall 
operations meeting 

Growing Water Smart in the Headwaters (Keystone)
25th Annual Arkansas River Basin Water Forum  (Pueblo Conv

28 29 30 May 1 2 3 4
8:00am Colorado Water 

Congress State Affairs
Committee (1580 
Logan, Suite 700, 
Denver)

SUNDAY MONDAY TUESDAY WEDNESDAY THURSDAY FRIDAY SATURDAY



4 2/15/2019 2:22 PMBeverly Richards

Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa
1 2 3 4

5 6 7 8 9 10 11
12 13 14 15 16 17 18
19 20 21 22 23 24 25
26 27 28 29 30 31

May 2019
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa

1
2 3 4 5 6 7 8
9 10 11 12 13 14 15

16 17 18 19 20 21 22
23 24 25 26 27 28 29
30

June 2019May 2019

Apr 28 29 30 May 1 2 3 4
12:00pm Frank - Mayors

and Managers mtg
General Assembly 

adjourns sine die

5 6 7 8 9 10 11
John Vacation

2:00pm STOR 
Committee Meeting 
(2nd Floor 
Conference Room, 
Blackstock's Govt 

12 13 14 15 16 17 18
John Vacation

1:00pm WMP 
Committee Meeting 
(District Board Room)

11:30am League of 
Women Voters 
(District Board Room)

19 20 21 22 23 24 25
4:00pm Gunnison Basin 

Roundtable
10:00am Frank: May 

Implementation 
Working Group #5  @

1:00pm UGRWCD Board 
of Directors Meeting 
- LSCWAE Annual 

26 27 28 29 30 31 Jun 1
Memorial Day Holiday - 

Office CLosed
Western Water Future Games

SUNDAY MONDAY TUESDAY WEDNESDAY THURSDAY FRIDAY SATURDAY


	Agenda - February 25, 2019
	Agenda Item 3 - Consent Agenda Items
	Approval of January 28, 2019 Minutes
	Consideration of Operating and Non-Operating Expenses

	Agenda Item 4 - Legal and Legislative Matter
	Agenda Item 5 - Manager's Report
	Agenda Item 10 - Board/Staff/Committee Members Reports
	DCP Questions from Kathleen Curry
	Drought Contingency Planning Update
	Watershed Management Planning Committee Meeting Summary
	CWRP Award Letter - Watershed Management Planning

	Agenda Item 11 - Miscellaneous Matters
	Current Gunnison River Spreadsheet
	Cloudseeing Status Letter - North American Weather Consultants
	Solar Information Provided to the District - Atlasta Solar Center
	Thank You Letter from Ecology Class at Crested Butte High School

	Agenda Item 13 - Future Meetings



